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Tribal Group plc

("Tribal" or "the Group")

Preliminary Results for the year ended 31 December 2022

 

Tribal  (AI M: TR B), a  leading provider of so�ware and services  to the interna�onal  educa�on market, announces  i ts
prel iminary results  for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Financial performance

·     As announced in the Group's  Trading Update on 23 February 2023, the Group's  trading
performance for 2022 has  been s ignificantly impacted by implementa�on delays  on the  Nanyang
Technological  Univers i ty ("NTU") contract, due to changing scope and complexity, resul�ng in
substantia l ly increased ongoing costs  and lower recognisable revenue

·     The underlying bus iness  remains  strong, with Group revenue increas ing 2% to £83.6m (2021:
£82.2m constant currency), fol lowing a strong performance across  C loud and Edge offerings  and
School  Inspection Services; offsetting lower recognisable revenue from NTU

·     Annual  Recurring Revenue (AR R) remained flat at £51.2m (2021: £51.2m at constant currency),
reflec�ng a 10% growth in the Group's  strategic products , offset by decl ining revenues as
anticipated, from Tribal 's  non-core historic and schools ' systems contracts

·     O ur Educa�on Services  bus iness  "ES" performed wel l , with revenue increas ing 9% to £15.4m
(2021: £14.2m constant currency) and opera�ng margin increas ing by 10.1pp to 25% (2021: 15%
constant currency)

·     Group adjusted EB I TDA of £7.4m (2021: £16.8m constant currency) reflects opera�ng losses
relating to the NTU contract and an onerous  contract provis ion of £4.5m for future losses . W ithout
the impact of NTU, margins  would have been cons istent with historic levels

·     Statutory Profi t before tax for the year decreased to £0.4m (2021: £8.6m constant currency)  

·     Adjusted opera�ng cash convers ion of 89% (2021: 104%) and nega�ve free cash flow of £5.3m
(2021: £5.4m positive), reflecting the impact of the NTU contract, resulting in net debt of £3.4m

·     The Board are proposing an annual  dividend of 0.65p per share (2021:1.3p per share) expected to
be paid at the end of July 2023

Operational performance

·     Tribal  received no�fica�on on 17 March 2023 that NTU has  purported to terminate the contract
and reserved i ts  rights  to cla im damages. Tribal  rejects  NTU's  right to terminate and cons iders  i ts
purported termina�on a wrongful  repudia�on of the contract.  Tribal  has  however accepted NTU's
wrongful  repudiation, elected to treat the contract as  at an end and reserved i ts  rights .

·     Con�nued good sales  performance, adding five major C loud contracts  from exis�ng customers,
Univers i ty of Sunderland, Birmingham City Univers i ty, Univers i ty for the Crea�ve Arts , Univers i ty
of Reading and Univers i ty of East Angl ia , adding £1.7m to ARR

·     Expansion into new geographies  with the s igning of a  five-year SITS:Vis ion contract with the Bri tish
Univers i ty of Vietnam

·     Appointment of new Head of ES and strong bus iness  performance, renewing several  s ignificant UK
contracts  and s igning two new contracts . The Board is  cons idering i ts  strategic op�ons and
opportunities  for the Education Services  bus iness

Outlook

·     The NTU contract has  now been ended and both parties  wi l l  participate in a  mediation process , the
timing and outcome of which is  presently uncertain
 

·     Tribal :C loud con�nues to represent a  cons iderable near-term addressable opportunity  with a
further three deals  s igned post year end, Univers i ty of Wolverhampton, Royal  Veterinary Col lege
and Univers i ty of the Arts  London, with combined ARR of £1.1m
 



 
·     Fol lowing a review of investment strategy, Group capital ised product development wi l l  be

s igni ficantly reduced in 2023, whi le maintaining development on our existing portfol io where we
are seeing promis ing ARR growth

·     Despite the lower EBITDA levels  for FY22 the overal l  prospects  for Tribal  remain pos itive. With an
expanding customer base, advanced service offering and continued contract and ARR momentum,
we have entered FY23 with good sales  momentum.

Mark Pickett, Chief Executive, commented: 
"We have con�nued to execute against our growth strategy, transi�oning our exis�ng customers to the cloud while securing
new customers in our key geographies. Despite the lower EB ITDA  levels for F Y22 due to the substan�ally increased costs rela�ng
to the NTU contract and its subsequent termina�on, the posi�ve sales performance and successful go live of mul�ple customer
implementa�ons in the year demonstrates the strength of our offerings, effec�veness of our cloud strategy and con�nued
contract and ARR momentum.

Based on the performance in the year and having reviewed the group's cash flow forecasts, specifically with regard to the
significant uncertainties around the resolution of the NTU contract, the Board have concluded that it would be prudent to reduce
the final dividend by 50%. It is the Board's inten�on to return to its former policy of dividend progression when circumstances
allow.

We believe the educa�on market globally is becoming more a2uned to the benefits of SaaS and cloud offerings which presents
a suppor�ve market backdrop for Tribal and its strategic investment into and development of cu4ng-edge technologies. These
factors enable us to remain focused on delivering our key strategic priori�es during 2023 and despite the setback in F Y22, we
remain confident in our ability to meet customer demand going forward."
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About Tribal Group plc 
  
Tribal  Group plc i s  a  pioneering world-leader of educa�on so�ware and services . I ts  porNol io includes  Student
I nforma�on Systems; a  broad range of educa�on services  covering qual i ty assurance, peer review, benchmarking and
improvement; and student surveys  that provide the leading global  benchmarks  for student experience. Working with Higher
Educa�on, Further and Ter�ary Educa�on, schools , Government and State bodies , tra ining providers  and employers , in
over 55 countries ; Tribal  Group's  miss ion is  to empower the world of educa�on with products  and services  that underpin
student success . 

  

 

Chairman's Statement
 
Tribal 's  performance this  year has  been dominated by our NTU contract, which was impacted by implementa�on delays
due to changing scope and complexity.  Lower recognisable revenue and increased costs  led to short-term pressures  on the
business  whi le the implementa�on phase was ongoing. The NTU contract has  now been ended and both par�es  wi l l
par�cipate in a  media�on process  in an aPempt to achieve a resolu�on,  but the �ming and outcome of that process  and
any private negotiations  to that end, i s  presently uncertain.
 
However, there have also been many s igns  of ongoing pos i�ve progress  and the underlying performance of the bus iness
has  been good. Sales  performance has  been robust, our customer base has  grown, we have seen several  large customer
implementa�ons successful ly go-l ive, our product development efforts  have con�nued to augment our product set and we
have focused our sales  and marke�ng strategy. The success  of these efforts  can be seen in the 10% growth in Annual
Recurring Revenue (ARR) relating to the Group's  core products .
 
Tribal  i s  financial ly sol id, core AR R con�nues to grow and net reten�on rates  remain high. Educa�on Services  has  a lso had
a strong year, recovering strongly from the pandemic and is  wel l  set for a  year of growth in 2023.
 
We see an increas ing appe�te from the higher educa�on sector to trans i�on their exis�ng Student I nforma�on Systems to
the cloud and an�cipate this  to be the main driver for uptake of our current range offerings  over the next 3-5 years  as  wel l
as  our exis�ng core S I TS:Vis ion offering, which con�nues to sel l  wel l . The Board has  therefore decided to con�nue to invest
and focus  on sales  and marke�ng of our exis�ng mature products  and the Edge products  recently released or currently in
development, but to pause investment in new, addi�onal  modules  for the �me being. Further detai ls  of this  wi l l  be in
covered in the CEO statement. Given the chal lenges  seen in 2022, we wi l l  temporari ly pause exploring M&A opportunities .
 
W ith compe��on amongst univers i�es  con�nuing to increase we an�cipate the Admiss ions  product, which cons iderably
streaml ines  and improves  the Admiss ions  process  for both the ins�tu�on and prospec�ve students , wi l l  be a  long-term
growth driver for Tribal . The fi rst customer for Tribal  Admiss ions  is  set to go l ive in 2023.
 
Financial performance
 
Notwithstanding the costs  rela�ng to the NTU contract, Tribal  has  seen another year of progress  against our key
performance indicators .
 
C los ing AR R commiPed as  at 31 December 2022 remained flat at  £51.2m (2021: £51.2m constant currency) however, core
AR R increased 10% to £45.8m (2021: £41.7m constant currency) reflec�ng the Group's  momentum sel l ing i ts  strategic
products , offset by decl ining revenues as  an�cipated from Tribal 's  non-core historic and schools ' systems contracts  and
the termina�on of the NTU contract. Revenue for the year increased by 1.6% to £83.6m (2021: £82.2m constant currency)
due to a  sol id performance across  the Group's  C loud and Edge offerings  and School  I nspec�on Services . Growth was
s igni ficantly impacted by the del ivery on the NTU contract resulting in lower recognisable revenue.
 
Group adjusted EB I TDA of £7.4m (2021: £16.8m constant currency) reflects  opera�ng losses  rela�ng to the NTU contract
and an onerous  contract provis ion of £4.5m for future losses . W ithout the impact of NTU, margins  would have been
consistent with historic levels .



consistent with historic levels .
 
Despite the lower EB I TDA levels , the Group saw s ignificant growth in other areas  of the bus iness  including Educa�on
Services  which increased by 8.7% to £15.4m (2021: £14.2m constant currency) as  the main UK  contracts  con�nued to track
wel l  throughout the year in addition to new contract wins  in the Middle East.
 
Dividend
 
Tribal  remains  commiPed to a  progress ive dividend pol icy, however based on the performance in the year and having
reviewed the Group's  cash flow forecasts , specifical ly with regard to the s ignificant uncertain�es  around the resolu�on of
the NTU contract outl ined above, the Board have concluded that i t would be prudent to reduce the final  dividend by 50% to
0.65p per share. It i s  the Board's  intention to return to i ts  former pol icy of dividend progress ion when ci rcumstances  a l low.
 
Environment, Social and Governance (ESG)
 
Tribal  i s  commiPed to ac�vi�es  that benefit the environment and society, underpinned by good governance. As  part of our
journey to con�nual ly improve our approach and performance in these areas, the ES G CommiPee, chaired by Non-Execu�ve
Director, Nigel  Halkes , focuses  on s ix priori ty focus  areas  for the Group, each with key ini�a�ves  and objec�ves  for the
year and appropriate ownership from across  our Execu�ve Management Team. We have made good progress  on many of
these programmes and have set new objec�ves  for 2023, we are commiPed to their sustained del ivery and wi l l  con�nue to
bui ld on our ac�vi�es  in 2023 and beyond. You can read a ful l  report on these priori ty areas  within the ES G sec�on of the
Annual  Report.
 
People
I n the year we have con�nued to invest in our teams, in par�cular we have bolstered our execu�ve team, with three
refocused roles  covering Service Del ivery, Customer Success  and Sales . Crea�ng unity through the organisa�on and
providing a  suppor�ve environment for a l l  to flourish is  a  key strategic objec�ve for Tribal  and one in which we excel . I
would l ike to thank al l  our teams around the world for their con�nued energy and commitment to providing world-class
education software.
 
Ukraine
 
The Directors  have cons idered the impact of the ongoing s i tua�on in Ukraine and have concluded there is  currently
minimal  risk to bus iness  con�nuity as  we do not have a presence in the region. The Group con�nues to support a l l
col leagues  who are directly impacted by the confl ict and wi l l  monitor the s i tuation closely.
 
Outlook
 
The market appe�te for our leading solu�ons con�nues to be pos i�ve, and the demand for our extended porNol io of
products  from both exis�ng and new customers  is  good.  As  previous ly flagged, we an�cipate growth rates  to be lower
ini�al ly, as  new wins  are offset by the tai l ing off of historic high margin contracts , but we bel ieve the increased scalabi l i ty
and market appl icabi l i ty of our newer offerings  mean we are wel l  pos i�oned to increase our growth rates  over the medium
term. The NTU contract has  now been ended and both par�es  wi l l  par�cipate in a  media�on process , the �ming and
outcome of which is  presently uncertain.
 
The Board is  cognisant of the chal lenging wider economic backdrop and in this  type of infla�onary environment keen cost
control  i s  impera�ve. The bus iness  is  being run efficiently and effec�vely, and we have the financial  resources  to execute
on the growth strategy.
 
 
Richard Last
Chairman

Chief Executive's Review  
 
Introduction
 
Tribal  demonstrated sol id progress  in 2022 in terms of sales  performance and our trans i�on to a  Saa S bus iness , whi lst
maintaining our market-leading pos i�on in our core geographies  and suppor�ng our growing customer base. The underlying
business  remains  strong, with 10% high qual i ty ARR growth from our strategic software bus iness , Education Services  revenue
growing strongly at 9%, offset by expected decl ines  in our non-core S I S  bus iness . However, the Group's  results  this  year have
been overshadowed by our NTU contract.
 
NTU Contract
 
Tribal  received no�fica�on on 17 March 2023 that NTU has  purported to terminate the contract and reserved i ts  rights  to
cla im damages. Tribal  rejects  NTU's  right to terminate and cons iders  i ts  purported termina�on a wrongful  repudia�on of the
contract. Tribal  has  however accepted NTU's  wrongful  repudia�on, elected to treat the contract as  at an end and reserved i ts
rights .  The contract requires  the par�es  to par�cipate in media�on in an aPempt to achieve a resolu�on,  but the �ming and
outcome of that process  and any private nego�a�ons to that end is  presently uncertain. I t i s  poss ible that there may be a
s ignificant adverse financial  impact on the Group, but as  no financial  demands have yet been enumerated, currently the
Board cannot ful ly assess  any such poten�al  impact. We do not expect a  resolu�on in the near term and wi l l  provide
updates  as  and when appropriate.
 
W hi lst EB I TDA is  lower than the prior year due to the impact of the NTU contract, revenue for the year was  in l ine with the
Board's  expectations  reflecting the continued pos itive sales  performance across  the bus iness .   
 
Expanding customer base
 
We achieved a cons istent level  of new wins  in the year, adding new customers  across  our range of so�ware in key
geographies  and, notably, we secured five new contracts  to migrate customers  to Tribal :C loud and three new S I TS: Vis ion
customers, adding a  combined total  of £2.6m to AR R. We are increas ingly seeing the benefits  of the investments  we have
made in the evolu�on and expansion of our offering, pos i�oning Tribal  at the forefront of the evolving educa�on industry
with the abi l i ty to address  a  broader market in a  way not previous ly poss ible.
 
We have careful ly invested in our people and opera�ons throughout the year as  we evolve our opera�onal  model  to ensure
service levels  are maintained for long-term profitable growth and remain robust. W hi le the global  macro-economic
environment con�nues to be chal lenging, our high levels  of recurring revenues and cons istent win rate provide us  with
confidence that we can meet our ambitious  growth aspirations.
 
W ith student numbers  con�nuing to increase both domes�cal ly and interna�onal ly, we an�cipate the demand for our

products  wi l l  continue to grow, supporting our growth ambitions.
 
Market drivers and addressable opportunity



Market drivers and addressable opportunity
 
The educa�on market global ly con�nues to evolve as  expected. I t i s  becoming more aPuned to the benefits  of Saa S and cloud
offerings  which present a  supportive market backdrop for our bus iness .
 
Univers i�es  increas ingly recognise the role the cloud can play in driving their own internal  efficiencies  and to improve the
overal l  s tudent experience, so as  to aPract and retain the best ta lent over the long term. I n recent years , univers i�es  have
also witnessed a growing number of appl icants ; with the total  number of student enrolments  in the UK  increas ing by 13%
since the 2019/20 academic year. This  in turn has  led to increased demand for our solu�ons as  our suite of products  help
our customers  to address  and service this  growing population at a  faster rate than previous ly poss ible.
 
I t i s  becoming increas ingly clear that for many univers i�es, their first step to the cloud is  to trans i�on their exis�ng S I S  into
the cloud, so that they can reduce their in-house I T requirements  and benefit from the enhanced user experience provide by
Tribal 's  managed cloud service.  We an�cipate that this  process  of moving key student management systems to the cloud
wi l l  be the main focus  for our customers  over the next three to five years , before then expanding into a  greater number of
next-generation, cloud-native appl ications.
 
We see s ignificant opportuni�es  for our core S I TS:Vis ion and cloud-na�ve Edge products  in the next few years , across  our
key geographies  and bel ieve our teams are wel l  placed to service the opportunity provided by this  mass  trans i�on of
univers i ties  to cloud-based computing. 
 
Delivering on our strategy
 
O ur aim is  to provide educa�on technology solu�ons to customers  global ly, as-a-service. Trans i�oning to the del ivery of a
broader set of solu�ons, via  the 'as-a-service' model  wi l l  increase our addressable market across  a  greater number of
geographies , drive revenue and margin expansion, whi le enabl ing univers i�es  to focus  on the del ivery of excep�onal
education to their students . 
 
To achieve this  a im whi lst growing AR R, we launched our five-year objec�ves  in 2021 which are supported by our three
pi l lared growth strategy:

·     expanding our share of customer wal let through sales  of our exis�ng offerings  and trans i�oning
customers  to the Cloud;

·     expanding our addressable market through product set expansion via  both R&D and acquis i tion; and

·     expanding our geographical  reach. 

 
W hi lst we have made sol id progress  across  many of these areas  during the year, due to the con�nued impact of the NTU
contract, we wi l l  review the timel ines  around achievement of these objectives .
 
Top l ine AR R remained flat, the addi�on of new customers  in our core product set increased AR R by 10%, however this  was
offset by the reduc�on of revenue from historic Austral ian government contracts  and non-core schools ' systems contracts  in
Austral ia  and the termina�on of the NTU contract. We are pleased with the con�nued pos i�ve s igns  of poten�al  and
although i t wi l l  take �me for ful l  adop�on of our solu�ons by our customers  due to the annual  cycle of the academic year,
we remain confident in the s igni ficant long-term opportunities .
 
This  year's  successes  included:

·     the winning of three new SITS:Vis ion customers;

·     the trans ition of five flagship customers  into the Tribal :Cloud;

·     successful  go-l ive of three Cloud implementations  in the year;

·     the launch of Tribal  Data Engine; and

·     continued sales  momentum in Semestry.

 
During 2022 Semestry's  AR R has  grown by more than 50%, increas ing customer numbers  and making good inroads  into the
UK  market. We con�nue to develop new customer rela�onships  global ly and look for complementary partnerships  and
acquis i tions, to accelerate our expansion.
 
2023 wi l l  focus  on rebalancing our results  from the impacts  of the NTU contract and we wi l l  temporari ly pause exploring
investment opportunities  to scale the bus iness , ei ther in new geographies  or to expand our Edge fami ly.
 
O ur sales  and marke�ng efforts  wi l l  now be focused on our comprehensive porNol io of exis�ng cloud-based offerings , being
our founda�on products , S I TS, ebs  and Maytas , in the Tribal :C loud and our na�ve-cloud based Edge modules , such as
Semestry, Dynamics , Engage and Tribal  Data Engine (TD E). We see substan�al  opportuni�es  for these offerings  across  both
existing and new customers.
 
Innovation  
 
The higher educa�on market is  undergoing s ignificant change. Some of the trends  have been present for several  years  but the
pandemic accelerated the speed of change in many areas. I nnova�on in higher educa�on is  not s imply about new ways  of
working, to thrive, insti tutions  must become better at adapting to change.
 
Through constant product and process  innova�on we're helping ins�tu�ons adapt to change. Removing systems fric�on and
briPle processes  to free people and resources  to innovate and ensure service res i l ience in an ever-changing landscape. This
includes  address ing:
 

·     continuous changes  in government pol icy;

·     demand for flexible learning;

·     student fee pressures;

·     chal lenges  of insti tutions  achieving Net Zero;

·     soaring number of appl ications; and

·     ongoing regulatory obl igations.

 
Reduction in development spend of future modules
 
The Group is  commiPed to product innova�on and suppor�ng our customers  in their journey to the cloud.  Given the
general ly s low-moving nature of the higher educa�on market, we an�cipate this  first step of moving to the cloud wi l l  l ikely
be the main area of focus  for our customers  for the next three to five years , before then expanding into a  greater number of
next-generation, cloud-native appl ications.
 
The Board has  taken the decis ion to focus  development spend in 2023 and 2024 on our exis�ng Edge products , such as



The Board has  taken the decis ion to focus  development spend in 2023 and 2024 on our exis�ng Edge products , such as
Admiss ions  and Tribal  Data Engine. Development of Admiss ions  is  con�nuing with our pi lot customers  and we plan to
launch our marketing campaign to the wider market in advance of the 2024 academic year.
 
Overal l , management is  targeting a  s igni ficant reduction in Edge development in 2023 as  the peak of development investment
on Admiss ions  has  passed.
 
Increased speed of delivery and implementation
 
I n addi�on to the development of new capabi l i�es  we also con�nuously seek ways  to ensure our customers  can implement
and go l ive with our cloud products  more quickly, through the introduc�on of more standardised offerings . We were
del ighted this  year to see three of our cloud customers  go l ive within the year, of which two were completed within seven
months, demonstrating the successes  being achieved.
 
Geographic expansion
 
We have leading market shares  in the geographies  in which we operate. I n the UK  over 65% of a l l  Higher Educa�on
ins�tu�ons use our student management systems, in Austral ia  we support one-quarter of univers i�es, and in New Zealand
three of the eight univers i�es. I n Southeast As ia, we support the largest publ ic and largest private univers i�es  in Malays ia,
and this  year we have expanded further with new customer wins  including Middlesex Univers i ty in Dubai  and Univers i tei t
Leiden in The Netherlands. We wi l l  con�nue to focus  on growth in these geographies  and we an�cipate our Saa S product
offerings  wi l l  a l low us  to expand further into new geographies , due to i ts  more eas i ly diges�ble modular approach.  The
knowledge gained from the experience of working on the NTU contract wi l l  be cons idered as  we assess  new markets , and in
particular Singapore, to ensure an appropriate balance of risk and reward.
 
Operations and people
 
We have an excep�onal  team at Tribal  crea�ng value through market-leading technology and we are con�nual ly inves�ng in
our people agenda to enhance our pos i�on as  a  growing interna�onal  bus iness . We are driven by our purpose, to enable
student success  through exper�se, so�ware and services  and we rely on the talent and exper�se of our people for this
purpose to succeed. O ur team has  a  deep understanding of the educa�on market, developed through working in partnership
with our customers  and operating in senior roles  for leading education insti tutions.
 
The key ini�a�ves  enabl ing our people to develop their true poten�al  includes  our bespoke competency framework, which
underpins  a  range of Career Pathways. Through this  framework, we aim to help each employee understand how they can
develop in their current role as  wel l  as  plan for their future growth and development. We also run remote bus iness
development programmes focus ing on the expansion of our Manager Academy. The Academy broadens the ski l l s  and
commercial  awareness  of our leaders  and future leaders  and supports  our Digi ta l  Learning strategy.
 
O ur evolving opera�onal  model , which is  bui l t upon our increas ing focus  on customer success  and al ignment to Tribal 's  'as-
a-service' trans i�on, started to prove effec�ve this  year. During the year, we made two execu�ve hires  focus ing on Service
Del ivery and Customer Success . Paul  Davies  has  been appointed as  Global  P rofess ional  Services  director and Tawfiq SleeP
as Global  Customer Services  Director. Both bring a  wealth of experience from global  Saa S providers , are focused on
improving customer success  and have been appointed to the Execu�ve Board.  The Execu�ve Board was further supported by
the appointment of Cheryl  Watson as  the Sales  Director in order to focus  on con�nued sales  momentum. Cheryl  has  worked
at Tribal  for over ten years  and has  a  wealth of experience of our customers  and product offerings .
 
The new target opera�ng model  i s  a lso now being supported by the implementa�on of new Saa S financial  systems and
processes, intended to give our customers  a  more personal ised experience and to maximise the value of each of the Group's
products .
 
P rofess ional  Services  includes  the implementa�on of a l l  our so�ware products  at customer s i tes , typical ly working
alongs ide customer teams.  I t con�nues to be del ivered remotely and the team has  been bolstered by the Global  Del ivery
Centre (GD C) in Kuala Lumpur, Malays ia  which has  performed strongly during the year. The GD C is  now made up of around
30 employees  and continues  to grow; i t i s  now at a  level  of maturi ty for the del ivery of Tribal 's  products . 
 
The Tribal  Educa�on Services  team comprises  experts  in educa�on, qual i ty assurance and programme management and has
been reinvigorated with the appointment of MaP Davis , the new Managing Director of the divis ion, in March 2022. MaP
brings  over 20 years ' experience in the educa�on sector, a  decade of which was spent as  regional  director of a  major
competitor, responsible for the strategy and commercial  growth of i ts  UK bus iness .
 
Student Information Systems (SIS)
 
Student I nforma�on Systems, our core segment which targets  the further and higher educa�on sectors  through our range of
so�ware offerings , del ivered a strong performance in the year, growing customer numbers  and revenue and as  a  result
entered the new financial  year with a  sol id pipel ine of opportuni�es. We con�nued to win new customers  and trans i�on
existing customers  onto our cloud offerings .
 
O ur wins  in previous  years  and those in 2022, mean we currently have several  s ignificant S I S  implementa�ons underway,
the vast majori ty of which are progress ing wel l .
 
I n the year, we had five key wins  with exis�ng customers, Univers i ty of Sunderland, Birmingham City Univers i ty, Univers i ty
for the Crea�ve Arts , Univers i ty of Reading and Univers i ty of East Angl ia , to migrate their current Tribal  Student Management
Systems S I TS:Vis ion to the Tribal :C loud, providing an improved student experience and del ivering opera�onal  efficiencies  for
the univers i�es. The contracts  range from three to five years , with a  combined total  contract value of £5m, genera�ng
incremental  annual  recurring revenues of £1.7m as  wel l  as  providing an adop�on pathway to our Saa S products , the
Company's  cloud-native offerings .
 
I n addi�on, we s igned several  s ignificant contracts  with new customers  including a  seven-year contract with the Univers i ty
of P lymouth, a  four-year Semestry contract with the Univers i ty of Birmingham and a new five-year S I TS:Vis ion contract with
the Bri�sh Univers i ty of Vietnam. Together, these contracts  have a total  value of £8.3m, adding £1.1m in incremental  Annual
Recurring Revenue. We con�nue to have pos i�ve conversa�ons across  our extens ive customer base as  they explore the
benefi ts  a  move to the cloud can bring their organisation and are confident of continued uptake.
 
Notwithstanding the NTU contract, we are pleased overal l  with the pos i�ve s igns  of poten�al  across  Tribal 's  key
geographies , and al though i t wi l l  take �me for ful l  adop�on of our solu�ons by our customers  due to the annual  cycle of the
academic year, we remain confident in the s igni ficant long-term opportunities .
 
Education Services (ES)
 
Tribal  Educa�on Services  (ES) has  been cura�ng and del ivering Q ual i ty Assurance services  to ministries  of educa�on and

other educa�on agencies  around the world for many years , across  a  wide scope of areas  across  the educa�on sector.  These

services  include overal l  school  qual i ty, leadership and teaching qual i ty, as  wel l  as  many special is t areas  such as  new

teacher competence, Early Years , l i teracy and numeracy.

The appointment of MaP Davis  as  Managing Director of ES from March 2022, has  seen the revis ion and implementa�on of a

new three-year strategy for the bus iness , targe�ng sustainable growth between F Y23 - F Y25. The strategy wi l l  ini�al ly focus



new three-year strategy for the bus iness , targe�ng sustainable growth between F Y23 - F Y25. The strategy wi l l  ini�al ly focus

on crea�ng a clearer iden�ty for Educa�on Services  and in par�cular ar�cula�ng the value i t creates  for our customers:

suppor�ng governments  and educa�on ins�tu�ons to del iver on their strategic ambi�ons to improve the qual i ty and impact

of education.

Educa�on Services  has  con�nued to perform wel l  throughout the year, del ivering strong results . As  educa�onal  ins�tu�ons

and organisa�ons around the world saw a return to the classroom fol lowing the pandemic, demand for the Q ual i ty

Assurance services  ES provides  has  steadi ly increased.

O ver the course of the year ES has  del ivered major Q ual i ty Assurance contracts  to bodies  in the UK , US and the Middle East,

and has  been working with hundreds  of individual  schools  on our Q ual i ty Mark accredita�on. At present, Tribal  i s  running

highly successful  projects  across  i ts  key geographies .

As  previous ly reported, in the UK this  year, we successful ly tendered for renewals  as  prime contractor of two major contracts

with the Department for Educa�on (DfE) in England: NC ETM (£8.7m over two years) and Q ual i ty Assurance of the Na�onal

P rofess ional  Q ual ifica�ons programme 'NP Q ', total  contract value of £6.5m over four years . I n July 2022 we successful ly

renewed a third major UK  contract, the Advanced Maths  Support P rogramme 'AM S P ' with a  total  contract value of £2.6m, and

also won a two-year contract with the Na�onal  Tutoring P rogramme 'NTP ', with a  total  contract value of £2.4m, securing our

position with our key customer in the UK services  market.

During the second hal f, we successful ly mobi l i sed the Na�onal  Tutoring P rogramme (NTP ), mee�ng al l  contractual

requirements  and establ ishing important processes  required to evaluate the qual i ty of Tuition Partners  in the UK.

We have con�nued to win new contracts  throughout the year with highl ights  including a  contract to del iver inspec�ons on

behalf of the Sharjah P rivate Educa�on Authori ty (S EPA) in the UAE and an extens ion to our work with the Gulf Sector Ski l l s

body. Trading in the Surveys  and Benchmarking bus iness  was  pos i�ve, with this  sector now seeing a  strong recovery s ince

the pandemic, setting us  up for a  pos itive 2023.

There is  con�nuing opportunity in the Middle East, where the macro-economic environment is  more pos i�ve and our core

capabi l i�es  in understanding school  qual i ty, suppor�ng improvement and helping teachers  to improve; suppor�ng the

school  to work trans i�on, remain the key strategic interests  of a lmost a l l  educa�on pol icy makers  at any level .  Bui lding on

momentum from the previous  year and with a  clear strategy now in place, the outlook for the divis ion remains  pos itive.

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
 
Tribal  i s  commiPed to ac�vi�es  that benefit the environment and society, underpinned by good governance. At the end of
2021, the ES G CommiPee iden�fied s ix priori ty focus  areas  for the Group, each with key ini�a�ves  and objec�ves  for 2022
and appropriate ownership from across  our Execu�ve Management Team. The implementa�on of these ini�a�ves  was
successful  throughout 2022 and we wi l l  continue to bui ld on our activi ties  in 2023.
 
This  year we worked within the Group's  risk management framework and us ing the Taskforce on C l imate-related Financial
Disclosure (TCFD) guidance have begun our impact assessment of risk and opportunities  relating to the trans ition to a  lower-
carbon economy. I n 2023 we wi l l  work towards  implemen�ng mi�ga�ng ac�ons and appl icable recommenda�ons of TC F D
in each of the four thematic areas; governance, strategy, risk management and targets  and metrics .
 
I n 2023, our ES G journey wi l l  focus  on what is  most important for our bus iness  and how our ES G efforts  can al ign with the
commercial  context, enable the achievement of organisa�onal  goals  and provide a source of compe��ve advantage. I n
par�cular, i t i s  important that we have an inclus ive organisa�on where diverse ta lent is  developed, engaged and retained to
al low us  to add value and grow as  an international  bus iness .
 
2023 areas of focus
 
The resolu�on of the NTU contract wi l l  con�nue to be a key area of focus  during 2023, given uncertainty on the outcome,
timing and financial  impact.
 
W ithin our core bus iness , we wi l l  focus  on the trans i�on of our exis�ng customers  to the Tribal :C loud, the sale of further
Saa S products  and the del ivery of our first early adopter Admiss ions  customers. We wi l l  a lso look to develop new customer
relationships  global ly as  wel l  as  partnerships  to accelerate our future growth. 
 
Outlook
 
The Group has  traded in l ine with Board expecta�ons s ince the start of the new financial  year, entering 2023 with good sales
momentum, s igning a  further three Tribal :C loud contracts post year end, with a  combined AR R of £1.1m. We have adjusted
our capital  investment plans, recognis ing the balance required between the execu�on of our growth strategy and recovery
from the impact of the NTU contract.
 
We bel ieve the educa�on market global ly i s  becoming more aPuned to the benefits  of Saa S and cloud offerings  which
presents  a  suppor�ve market backdrop for Tribal  fol lowing i ts  strategic investment into and development of cuUng-edge
technologies . We remain focused on del ivering our key strategic priori�es  during 2023 and despite the setback in the year,
we remain confident in our ambition and abi l i ty to meet global  demand and del iver on our growth strategy going forward.
 
Mark Pickett
Chief Executive Officer 

 

Financial review
 
Results

 
Constant
Currency Change Change

constant



£m 2022

 
2021

Reported

Currency
20213

Change
constant
currency

constant
currency %

Revenue 83.6 81.1 82.2 1.4 1.6%

Student Information Systems 68.2 67.3 68.0 0.2 0.2%

Education Services 15.4 13.8 14.2 1.2 8.7%

Gross Profit 31.3 41.8 42.0 (10.7) (25.4)%

Gross  Profi t Margin 37.5% 51.5% 51.1% - (13.6)pp

Adjusted Operating Profit (EBITDA) 1, 2

(Before Central Overheads)
17.9 25.8 25.9 (8.0) (30.6)%

Student Information Systems 14.0 23.6 23.8   (9.8) (40.4)%

Education Services 3.9 2.2 2.1 1.7 81.6%

Central  Overheads 4 (10.4) (9.3) (9.3) (1.3) (11.4)%

Net foreign exchange (losses)/gain (0.1) 0.1 0.1 (0.2) (189.1)%

 

Adjusted Operating Profit (EBITDA) 1, 2 7.4 16.6 16.8 (9.3) (55.3)%

Adjusted Operating Margin (EBITDA) 1, 2 8.9% 20.5% 20.4% - (11.5)pp

 

Statutory Profi t before Tax 0.4 8.6 8.6 (8.2) (95.5)%

Statutory (Loss)/Profit after Tax (0.5) 7.0 7.0 (7.5) (107.3)%

 

Annual Recurring Revenue 51.2 50.3 51.2 - -
 

1. Adjusted Opera�ng Profit and Adjusted Opera�ng Margin are in respect of con�nuing opera�ons and exclude charges reported in "Other items" of £3.8m (2021:
£5.4m), refer to Note 6 in the Financial Statements.

2. EBITDA is calculated by taking the Adjusted Operating Profit after the allocation of Central Overheads and excludes Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation.

3. 2021 results adjusted are updated for constant currency - the Group has applied 2022 foreign exchange rates to 2021 results to present a constant currency basis,
when applied to 2021 results there is an increase in Revenue of £1.1m, an increase to Adjusted Opera�ng Profit (before Central Overheads) and Adjusted
Operating Profit of £0.1m.

4. Central Overheads are made up of costs that are not directly attributable to either Student Information Systems or Education Services.

 
The financial  review presents  the reported results  for 2022 and 2021, and the 2021 results  restated to "constant currency"
us ing 2022 rates  to exclude foreign currency impact. The change percentages  and compara�ves  are shown on the 2021
constant currency numbers . The presenta�on disclosed as  "constant currency" is  an al terna�ve performance measure and
not a  statutory repor�ng measure prepared in l ine with I nterna�onal  F inancial  Repor�ng Standards  (I F RS) and disclosed as
"reported". The Group has  chosen to present i ts  results  on a constant currency bas is  to reflect the year-on-year performance
and account for the impact of foreign exchange movements  in the year.
 
 
Revenue
Revenue increased 1.6% to £83.6m (2021: £82.2m constant currency, £81.1m reported). Notwithstanding the NTU contract,
the Group's  Student Information Systems segment performed wel l , with s igni ficant growth of 29% seen across  Cloud and Edge
revenue streams driven by new customer wins. This  increase was largely offset by the con�nued delay seen by P rofess ional
Services  in del ivering the implementation phase of the NTU contract.
 
Educa�on Services  revenue increased by 8.7% to £15.4m (2021: £14.2m constant currency; £13.8m reported) as  the main UK
contracts  continued to track wel l  throughout the year in addition to new contract wins  in the Middle East.
 
38% of Tribal 's  revenue in the year was  generated outs ide the UK and is  therefore subject to foreign exchange movement.
 
Gross Profit has  decreased 25.4% to £31.3m (2021: £42.0m constant currency, £41.8m reported) and the margin percentage
has  decreased to 37.5% (2021: 51.1% constant currency, 51.5% reported). The margin percentage decrease is  largely due to
the recogni�on of the onerous  contract provis ion and a decl ine in P rofess ional  Services  margin caused by the NTU contract
implementation.  
 
Adjusted Operating Profit (EBITDA)
The Adjusted O pera�ng P rofit (EB I TDA) decreased £9.3m to £7.4m (2021: £16.8m constant currency; £16.6m reported). The
Adjusted O pera�ng Margin (EB I TDA) decreased to 8.9% (2021: 20.4% constant currency; 20.5% reported). Due to the
chal lenges  experienced with the del ivery of the NTU contract, an onerous  contract provis ion of £4.5m has  been recognised
for future losses , which represents  the unavoidable costs  of mee�ng the obl iga�ons under the contract in excess  of the
expected economic benefi ts  to be received. Excluding this  provis ion, adjusted operating profi t would be £11.9m and adjusted
operating margin would be 14.3%.
 
Central  O verheads, represen�ng costs  in H R, I T, F inance, Marke�ng and Management that aren't directly aPributable to l ines
of bus iness  increased by £1.3m to £10.4m (2021: £9.3m constant currency and reported). The increase was primari ly due to
increased global  insurance costs  and legal  and profess ional  fees  in l ine with market trends. Margins  wi l l  con�nue to be
under pressure next year due to the impact of infla�on on salaries  and global  insurance is  expected to con�nue to rise in
2023.
 
We con�nue to focus  on reducing overhead costs  and have con�nued to grow our Mani la  office in the P hi l ippines  to support
central  back-office func�ons, product development, ebs  and School Edge product support and other bus iness  services . The
Group continues  to identi fy cost saving measures  and effectively manage i ts  cost base.
 
Statutory (Loss)/Profit after Tax
The Statutory (Loss) / P rofit a�er tax for the year decreased by 107.3% to a  loss  of £(0.5)m (2021: £7.0m reported). Excluding
the costs  of the Veri tas  P rogramme, a  one-off project, in the year of £1.3m (2021: £1.7m) and the onerous  contract provis ion
of £4.5m (2021: £ni l ) the underlying profit decrease was 23.5%. The tax charge reduced to £0.9m (2021: £1.6m reported) due
to the unrecognised deferred tax in respect of the S ingapore branch losses , on the bas is  we do not an�cipate future profits  to
be generated to uti l i se these losses .



be generated to uti l i se these losses .
 
Segmental performance
The Group provides  so�ware and non-so�ware related services  to the interna�onal  educa�onal  market. These services  are
managed across  two divis ions, SIS and ES.
 
Student Information Systems (SIS)

£m 2022

 
 

2021
Reported

Constant
Currency

2021

 
Change

constant
currency

Change 
constant

currency %

Foundation Support & Maintenance 25.4 26.0 26.2 (0.8) (2.9)%

Foundation Software 7.2 5.4 5.4 1.8 33.3%

Cloud Services 8.5 6.8 6.9 1.6 24.0%

Edge 4.8 3.4 3.4 1.4 39.6%

Profess ional  Services 11.2 12.7 12.8 (1.6) (12.5)%

Core Revenue 57.1 54.2 54.7 2.4 4.5%

Other Software & Services 11.0 13.1 13.4 (2.3) (17.3)%

Total Revenue 68.2 67.3 68.0 0.1 0.2%

 

Adjusted Operating Profit 14.0 23.6 23.8 (9.8) (40.4)%

  

Adjusted Operating Margin 20.6% 35.0% 35.0% - (14.4)pp
 
Student I nforma�on Systems focuses  on so�ware-related solu�ons to the Higher Educa�on, Further Educa�on, Col leges  and
Employers  (referred to in Austral ia  as  VET), and Schools  sectors  across  the main geographic markets  being the UK , Austral ia ,
New Zealand, Singapore, Malays ia, Netherlands  and Canada.
 
S I S  revenue increased marginal ly by 0.2% to £68.2m (2021: £68.0m constant currency; £67.3m reported). Revenue generated
from our core product offerings  increased 4.5% to £57.1m (2021: £54.7m constant currency and reported). The increase was
impacted by the changing scope and complexity of the NTU contract, resul�ng in substan�al ly lower recognisable revenue
than original ly an�cipated. Revenue from other so�ware and services  decl ined 17.3% to £11.0m (2021: £13.4m constant
currency, £13.1m reported) as  discussed below.
 
The Group secured mul�ple new customer wins  throughout the year across  Tribal 's  range of so�ware, reflec�ng the evolving
product suite, technology leadership and increas ing activi ty levels  within the education sector global ly.
 
Founda@on Support & Maintenance fees  in the period on our Founda�on products  (primari ly S I TS, Cal l i s ta, ebs, Maytas , K 2
and S I D) decreased 2.9% in the period. Several  ebs  and Maytas  customers  moved onto So�ware-as-a-Service (Saa S) contracts
in the year, resulting in £0.2m of associated revenues transferring from support to software.  
 
Founda@on SoBware  includes  the sale of new perpetual  and subscrip�on so�ware l icenses  on our Founda�on products .
Revenue in the period increased 33.3% to £7.2m (2021: £5.4m constant currency, £5.4m reported). Under I F RS15 l icense
revenue is  recognised as  the so�ware is  implemented on a percentage complete bas is , resul�ng in the revenue from larger
implementa�ons taking more than two years  to recognise. Key new customers  include Univers i ty of P lymouth, Univers i ty of
East Angl ia  and The Leeds  Conservatoire and Bri tish Univers i ty Vietnam.
 
Cloud Services cover the provis ion of Tribal :C loud, a  ful ly managed publ ic cloud services  and other hos�ng services
supporting Tribal  products , ei ther on-premise in a  private cloud, or more increas ingly in a  publ ic cloud.
 
C loud revenues have con�nued to increase and are up 24.0% to £8.5m (2021: 6.9m constant currency, £6.8m reported).  As
previous ly discussed, the Group closed a number of s ignificant sales  to exis�ng customers, trans i�oning their exis�ng on-
premise Tribal  S I TS so�ware, S I TS:Vis ion, into the Tribal :C loud. We con�nue to have pos i�ve conversa�ons across  our
extens ive customer base as  they explore the benefits  a  move to the cloud can bring to their organisa�on and are confident of
continued uptake. At the end of 2022 22% of our 126 SITS:Vis ion customers  had s igned up to Tribal :Cloud.
 
Edge  revenues saw an increase of 39.6% to £4.8m (2021: £3.4m constant currency and reported), due to sales  across  our
range of products  such as  Semestry, Support and Wel lbeing and Engage.
 
Professional Services includes  the implementation of a l l  our software products  at customer s i tes , typical ly working alongs ide
customer teams. I mplementa�on projects  vary in length and complexity, ranging from a smal l  number of days  to more than
two years  for complex projects . Revenues are ei ther a  day rate fee, or performed under a  fixed fee for defined implementa�on
scope. P rofess ional  services  have con�nued to be del ivered remotely where appropriate, in most instances, and the team
has been bolstered by the Global  Del ivery Centre (GDC) in Kuala Lumpur, Malays ia  which has  grown 39% in the year.
 
P rofess ional  Services  revenue decreased by 12.5% to £11.2m (2021: £12.8m constant currency, £12.7m reported) as  a  result
of the chal lenges  with the NTU contract implementation. Furthermore, a  s igni ficant amount of resource is  working on the NTU
contract which has  reduced the teams capacity to del iver on other work as  a  result.  
 
O ther SoBware & Services revenue decreased 17.3% to £11.0m (2021: £13.4m constant currency, £13.1m reported) due to
con�nued Austral ian School Edge churn in addi�on to the previous ly announced planned reduc�on in development work on
the Technical  and Further Educa�on col leges  New South Wales , "TAF E NSW " contract. The TAF Es  trans i�on to their new
provider is  expected to conclude during the second hal f of 2023 at which point no further revenue wi l l  be generated, TAF E's
contribution to the Group's  annual  recurring revenue totals  £3.1m.

Adjusted Operating Profit decreased by (40.4)% to £14.0m (2021: £23.8m constant currency; £23.6m reported) and Adjusted
O pera�ng Margin decreased to 20.6% (2021: 35.0% constant currency and reported). S I S  margin reduced due to low margins
from the implementa�on of the NTU contract compounded by the fact the team have had lower capacity to del iver on higher
margin contracts . Due to the chal lenges  experienced with the del ivery of the NTU contract, an onerous  contract provis ion of
£4.5m had been recognised, which represents  the unavoidable costs  of mee�ng the obl iga�ons under the contract in excess
of the expected economic benefits  to be received. Excluding this  provis ion, S I S 's  adjusted opera�ng profit would be £18.5m
and adjusted operating margin would be 27.2%.
 

 

Education Services (ES)

 
2021

Constant
Currency

Change
constant

Change 
constant



£m 2022
2021

Reported
Currency

2021
constant
currency

constant
currency %

School  Inspections  & Related Services 12.7 11.1 11.4 1.3 11.7%

I-graduate - Surveys  & Data Analytics 2.7 2.7 2.8 (0.1) (3.9)%

Total Revenue 15.4 13.8 14.2 1.2 8.7%

Adjusted Operating Profit 3.9 2.2 2.1 1.7 81.6%

 

Adjusted Operating Margin 25.0% 16.3% 15.0% - 10.1pp
 
Educa�on Services  (ES) provides  non-so�ware related solu�ons global ly across  the same market sectors . The core offerings
are inspec�on and review services  which support the assessment of educa�onal  del ivery, performance benchmarking,
student surveys, and data analytics .
 
Education Services  revenue increased by 8.7% to £15.4m (2021: £14.2m constant currency; £13.8m reported).
 
The revenue from School Inspec@ons & Related Services increased by 11.7% to £12.7m (2021: £11.4m constant currency;
£11.1m reported).
 
Performance con�nued to improve throughout the year, with successful  tenders  for renewals  of three major contracts  with
the Department for Educa�on in England: The Na�onal  Centre for Excel lence in the Teaching of Mathema�cs  "NC ETM" (£8.7m
total  contract value over two years), Q ual i ty Assurance of the Na�onal  P rofess ional  Q ual ifica�ons programme "NP Q ",
(£6.5m total  contract value over four years) and the Advanced Maths  Support Programme "AMSP" (£2.6m total  contract value
over two years). I n addi�on, winning a  two-year contract with the Na�onal  Tutoring P rogramme "NTP " total  contract value of
£2.4m.
 
I n the Middle East a  new s ix-month contract was  won in the year with the Sharjah P rivate Educa�on Authori ty "S EPA" (£3.0m
total  contract value) to del iver School  I nspec�ons in addi�on to con�nued del ivery on smal ler, high margin, contracts  in the
UAE and Bahrain.
 
The revenue for Surveys & Data Analy@cs decreased by 3.9% to £2.7m (2021: £2.8m constant currency; £2.7m reported). The
revenues from Surveys  are reduced, as  expected, due to the seasonal i ty of the Southern Hemisphere I nterna�onal  Student
Barometer which most insti tutions  participate every other year.  
 
The Adjusted O pera�ng P rofit in Educa�on Services  increased by 81.6% to £3.9m (2021: £2.2m constant currency; £2.1m
reported), the Adjusted O pera�ng Margin a lso increased 10.1pp to 25.0% (2021: 16.3% constant currency; 15.0% reported),
this  increase is  largely due to the variable cost model  i t operates  and the successful  del ivery of higher margin contracts  in
2022 compared to the lower margin ADEK contract which was completed at the end of 2021.

 

Product Development

£m   2022
2021

Reported Change

Product Development 14.4 15.9 (10.3)%

Of which capitalised 10.3 10.2 2.3%

Edge 10.3 10.1 1.4%

Other Products - 0.1 (100.0)%

Of which expensed 4.1 5.8 (39.1)%

Foundation Products 2.0 2.2 (11.7)%

Edge 1.3 2.2 (76.3)%

Other Products 0.8 1.3 (48.0)%

Amortisation 1.3 1.0 24.1%
 
The Group spent £14.4m on P roduct Development, of which £10.3m was capital ised in rela�on to Edge, including Dynamics
and Semestry (2021: £15.9m spent, £10.2m capital ised, £5.8m expensed). I n 2021 £0.1m was capital ised in rela�on to
Educa�on Services ' E-Evidence appl ica�on, this  has  been wriPen off due to a  change in focus  by new management in the
year.
 
We regularly review our Edge strategy, which provides  a  compel l ing vis ion to new and exis�ng customers  to embrace our
next-genera�on, best-of-breed, cloud-na�ve S I S  solu�ons, to improve del ivery to customers. As  a  cloud-na�ve S I S, Edge
provides  a  compe��ve differen�ator in targe�ng and acquiring new customers. I n addi�on, i t protects  Tribal 's  customer
base by providing the most efficient, lowest cost route to achieve a comprehensive, integrated, open-standards  S I S  which
maximises  the student experience and reduces  the technical  complexity and IT cost for our customers.
 
O ur con�nued investment in Edge across  our exis�ng product sets  and Admiss ions  saw capital ised product development
spend increased to £10.3m (2021: £10.1m) as  the Edge development team reached i ts  peak of development ac�vi�es  to
del iver Admiss ions. Management is  expecting capital ised product development to reduce s igni ficantly in 2023 as  the peak of
development investment has  passed.
 
Expensed product development decreased 39.1% to £4.1m (2021: £5.8m) of which £2.0m (2021: £2.2m) related to our
Founda�on products , £1.3m (2021: £2.2m) related to Edge and £0.8m (2021: £1.3m) related to other products .  P roduct
development costs  of £0.7m in 2021, relating to our Austral ian Government Contracts , has  been real located from Foundation
to O ther products . 2021 included a one-off charge of £0.8m rela�ng to pre-2021 capital ised costs  being expensed to a l ign
with our future Edge offerings .
 

 



 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

£m 2022
2021

Reported

2021
Constant
Currency

 
Change

constant
currency

 
Change

constant
currency %

Revenue 83.6 81.1 82.2 1.4 1.6%

- Student Information Systems 68.2 67.3 68.0 0.1 0.2%

- Education Services 15.4 13.8 14.2 1.2 8.7%

Adjusted Operating Profi t (EBITDA)1 7.4 16.6 16.8 (9.3) (55.3)%

Adjusted Operating Margin1 8.9% 20.5% 20.4% - (11.5)pp

Annual  Recurring Revenue (ARR)2 51.2 50.3 51.2 - -

Gross  Revenue Retention (GRR)3 91% 93% - - (2)pp

Net Revenue Retention (NRR)4 104% 106% - - (2)pp

Committed Income (Order Book) 172.9 172.5 176.6 (3.7) (2.1)%

Operating Cash Convers ion6 89% 104% 104% - (15.0)pp

Free Cash (Out)/In Flow (5.3) 5.4 5.4 (10.7) (198)%

Staff Retention 83.6% 86.9% - - (3.3)pp

Revenue per operational  FTE5 £102.0k £100.1k £101.4k £0.6k 0.6%

 
1.        Adjusted Opera�ng Profit and Adjusted Opera�ng Margin are in respect of con�nuing opera�ons and exclude charges reported in "Other

items" of £3.8m (2021: £5.4m), refer to Note 6 in the Financial Statements.  EBITDA is calculated by taking the Adjusted Opera�ng Profit
after the allocation of Central Overheads and excludes Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation.

2.        ARR is a forward-looking metric represen�ng commiPed revenues as at 31 December 2022 and includes Support & Maintenance fees paid
on all software, License sold on a subscription basis, Cloud services and Edge sales.

3.        Calculated as a percentage of recurring revenue retained from exis�ng customers at 1 January including contract expiry, cancella�ons or
downgrades in the year

4.        Calculated as a percentage of recurring revenue retained from exis�ng customers at 1 January including upsells as well as contract expiry,
cancellations or downgrades in the year

5.        Revenue per opera�onal FTE is the average FTE for the year excluding average FTE associated with capitalised Product Development. In
2022 152.3 FTE were capitalised (2021: 126.1)

6.        Opera�ng cash conversion is calculated as net cash from opera�ng ac�vi�es before tax, excluding the cash ouNlow of £1.2m (2021:
£1.7m) on the Veritas programme and £0.6m (2021: £nil) of redundancy payments as a propor�on of adjusted opera�ng profit (EBITDA)
excluding the onerous contract provision of £4.5m (2021: £nil).

 

The above Alterna�ve Performance Measures  (AP M) are not Statutory Accoun�ng Measures  and are not intended as  a
subs�tute for statutory measures. A reconci l ia�on of Statutory O pera�ng P rofit and Adjusted O pera�ng P rofit (EB I TDA) has
been provided in the financial  s tatements .

 

Annual Recurring Revenue (ARR)

£m 2022
2021

Reported

Constant
Currency

2021
 

Change
 

Change %
Foundation Support & Maintenance 24.8 24.7 25.0 (0.2) (1.0)%

Foundation Subscription 5.4 3.8 3.8 1.6 42.6%

Cloud Services 10.2 8.2 8.3 1.9 23.4%

Edge 5.4 4.5 4.6 0.8 18.0%

Core product ARR 45.8 41.2 41.7 4.1 9.9%

Other Software & Services 5.4 9.1 9.5 (4.1) (43.5)%

Total ARR 51.2 50.3 51.2 - -
 
AR R is  a  key forward looking financial  metric of the Group and is  an area of strategic focus. O ur a im is  to grow AR R in our
core products  through the del ivery of Software-as-a-Service contracts , providing increased qual i ty of earnings.
 
AR R rela�ng to our core product offering increased by 9.9% to £45.8m (2021: £41.7m constant currency, £41.2m reported)
driven by wins  across  our core product offerings , offset by the decrease of £1.3m rela�ng to the NTU contract and other
churn.
 
As  previous ly reported, AR R rela�ng to other so�ware and services  has  decreased 43.5% to £5.4m (2021: £9.5m constant



As previous ly reported, AR R rela�ng to other so�ware and services  has  decreased 43.5% to £5.4m (2021: £9.5m constant
currency, £9.1m reported). £0.6m relates  to the decrease in Department of Educa�on AR R fol lowing a contract extens ion to
June 2024, we expect the remaining AR R of £1.5m to drop in 2023 subject to historic Government and Schools ' contracts
migrating onto an al ternative solution.
 

NRR 104% (2021: 106%) has  decreased by 2pp. Upsel l  to exis�ng customers  has  been cons istent year on year, highl igh�ng
the strong growth opportuni�es  within our exis�ng customer base, in par�cular migra�ons of on-premise customers  into
the cloud. This  has  been offset by expected churn in Cal l i s ta  as  two customers  have exited, as  wel l  as  expected churn in
School  Edge as  customers  continue to migrate to a l ternative suppl iers  decreas ing GRR by 2pp 91% (2021: 93%).
 
Committed Income (Order Book)
The CommiPed I ncome (O rder Book) relates to the total  value of orders  across  S I S  and ES, which have been s igned on or
before, but not del ivered by 31 December 2022. This  represents  the best es�mate of bus iness  expected to be del ivered and
recognised in future periods  and includes  two years  of Support & Maintenance revenue. At 31 December 2022 this  decreased
to £172.9m (2021: £176.6m constant currency, £172.5m reported). CommiPed I ncome decreased due to the removal  of the
NTU contract £5.6m, with the remainder due to the an�cipated reduc�on in historic Austral ian Government contracts  and
SchoolEdge churn offset by new contract wins  in ES, Cloud and Edge.
 
Operating cash conversion
O pera�ng cash convers ion is  calculated as  net cash from opera�ng ac�vi�es  before tax, excluding the cash ouNlow of
£1.2m (2021: £1.7m) on the Veri tas  programme and £0.6m (2021: £ni l ) of redundancy payments  as  a  propor�on of adjusted
opera�ng profit (EB I TDA) excluding the onerous  contract provis ion of £4.5m (2021: £ni l ). I n 2022, opera�ng cash convers ion
was 89% (2021: 104% reported). The decrease in opera�ng cash convers ion is  a  result of an increase in non-cash i tems and
the temporary decl ine in working capital .
 
Free cash flow
Free cash flow is  included as  a  key indicator of the cash that i s  generated (or absorbed) by the Group and is  avai lable for
acquis i�on related investment, interest and finance charges  and, or distribu�on to shareholders . I t i s  calculated as  net cash
generated, before dividends, interest and finance charges, deferred cons idera�on, and investments  in subs idiaries . Free
cash flow in 2022 decreased to and ouNlow of £(5.3)m (2021: inflow of £5.4m reported), investment in product development
increased £0.4m to £10.6m (2021: £10.2m) and proceeds on shares  sold to sa�sfy exercises  of share-based payment
schemes reduced to £0.6m (2021: £3.2m). Net cash used in opera�ng ac�vi�es  before tax decreased £6.6m to £8.9m (2021:
£15.5m).

 

Full Time Equivalent (FTE) and staff retention
 2022 2021 Change

UK 622 651 (29)

As ia  Paci fic 317 317 1

Rest of world1 13 14 (2)

Ful l  Time Equivalent (FTE) 952 982 (31)
1.         Including USA, Canada and Middle East.

Our overal l  workforce has  decreased by 3.1% to a  total  FTE of 952 from 982 at 31 December 2021 primari ly in the UK.
 
O n an opera�onal  F TE bas is  (excluding Capital ised P roduct Development), the revenue per average opera�onal  F TE
increased to £102.0k (2021: £101.4k constant currency, £100.1k reported).
 
The reduction in headcount reflects  our ongoing strategy to drive efficiencies  whi lst growing our global  del ivery capabi l i ty in
Malays ia  and the P hi l ippines. We note our staff reten�on has  decreased to 83.6% (2021: 87.0%) in l ine with the market
trends, with the last quarter of 2022 returning to pre-pandemic levels  of attri tion.
 
Items excluded from adjusted profit figures
The Group has  adopted a pol icy of disclos ing separately on the face of i ts  Group income statement the effect of any
components  of financial  performance cons idered by the Directors  to be not directly related to the trading bus iness  or
regarded as  excep�onal , and for which separate disclosure would ass ist in a  bePer understanding of the financial
performance achieved. A ful l  explana�on of "O ther I tems" is  included in note 6 of the F inancial  Statements  however the main
items are as  fol lows:
 

·     Employee-related share option charges:

I n 2022, share-based payment charges  (including employer related taxes) total led £0.5m (2021: £1.6m), and are
excluded from the Adjusted opera�ng profit. O n 11 Apri l  2022, 552,941 ni l -cost share op�ons were granted to
Mark Pickett (317,647) and Diane McIntyre (235,294) under the terms of the 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan.

·     Amortisation of IFRS 3 intangibles :

The amor�sa�on charge in rela�on to I F RS 3 intangible assets  of £1.1m (2021: £0.9m) arose from separately
iden�fiable assets  recognised as  part of previous  acquis i�ons. The assets  principal ly relate to so�ware and
customer rela�onships  and are amor�sed over their expected l i fe which was determined in the year the
acquis i tion took place.

·     Internal  Systems Transformation Programme "Veri tas":

Between the end of 2020 and the end of 2022, the Group has  been running the Veri tas  P rogramme which went
l ive in January 2023. This  includes  an upgrade to i ts  accoun�ng system (Microso� Dynamics  D365) and is  part
of a  wider implementa�on of a  new target opera�ng model  and processes  to provide greater opera�ng
efficiencies  and repor�ng func�onal i�es. Fol lowing clarified guidance issued in rela�on to I AS 38, £1.3m
(2021: £1.7m) of costs  have been expensed to the income statement.

·     Restructuring and associated costs :

These costs  relate to the restructuring of the Group's  opera�ons to implement the new target opera�ng model  as
part of the Veri tas  programme. The charge for the year is  £0.6m (2021:£ni l ) due to planned restructures  at the



part of the Veri tas  programme. The charge for the year is  £0.6m (2021:£ni l ) due to planned restructures  at the
start of the year. There are no restructuring provis ions  recognised as  at 31 December 2022.

 

 

Net cash and cash flow

£m 2022 2021 Change  

Net cash flow from operating activities before tax 8.7 15.5 (6.8) 

Tax paid (2.6) (1.6) (1.0) 

Purchases  of property, plant and equipment (0.7) (0.6) (0.1) 

Net lease payments (0.9) (0.9) - 

Capital ised product development (10.4) (10.2) (0.2) 

Proceeds from shares 0.6 3.2 (2.6) 

 Free cash flow (5.3) 5.4 (10.7)

Net cash outflow from other investing activi ties (1.0) (6.1) 5.2 

Net cash inflow/ (outflow) from other financing activi ties 3.2 (2.7) 5.9 

Net decrease in cash & cash equivalents (3.1) (3.4) 0.3 

Cash & cash equivalents  at beginning of the year 5.9 9.5 (3.6) 

Less : Effect of foreign exchange rate changes - (0.2) 0.2 

Cash & cash equivalents at end of period 2.9 5.9 (3.0) 

Borrowings (6.3) - (6.3) 

Net (debt)/cash & cash equivalents at end of period (3.4) 5.9 (9.3) 

 
Net (debt) / cash and cash equivalents  at 31 December 2022 were £(3.4)m (2021: £5.9m).
 
O pera�ng cash inflow for the period was £6.1m (2021: £13.9m) s ignificantly lower than last year due to the impact of the
NTU contract.
 
Cash ouNlow from inves�ng ac�vi�es  was  £12.1m (2021: £16.9m). Spend on purchases  of property, plant and equipment
total led £0.7m (2021: £0.6m). Spend on product development increased to £10.4m (2021: £10.2m) in l ine with the Group's
product investment programme. The Group made a payment of £1.0m for deferred cons idera�on (2021: £2.2m), of which
£0.6m was the final  earn-out from the Semestry acquis i�on, the remaining £0.4m was earn-out payments  for Eveoh, paid on
a quarterly bas is  over the two year earn-out period ending September 2023. I n 2021 the Group made an upfront net payment
of £4.2m in respect of the acquis i tion of Semestry Limited, there have been no acquis i tions  in 2022.
 
Cash inflow/(ouNlow) from financing ac�vi�es  increased to £2.9m (2021: (0.4)m). The Group paid a  final  dividend of 1.3p
per share in the year with £2.7m returned to shareholders . Bank loan arrangement fees  and interest in the period total led
£0.3m (2021: £0.2m). This  i s  offset with the proceeds from the issue of shares  total l ing £0.6m (2021: £3.2m) to sa�sfy
exercises  of share-based payment schemes.  During the year the group drew down a net of £6.3m from the £10m loan faci l i ty
to ass ist with working capital  requirements , this  remains  outstanding at year end.
 
Funding arrangements
O n 21 January 2020 the Group entered into a  three year £10m mul�currency revolving faci l i ty with H S BC with the op�on to
extend by a  further two years , both of which have been exercised with the faci l i ty expiring in December 2024. The faci l i ty was
put in place to cover general  corporate and working capital  requirements  of the Group, as  at 31 December 2022 £6.3m
(2021: £ni l ) of the loan was u�l ised. The Group had a £2m commiPed overdra� faci l i ty in the UK  and a AUD$2m commiPed
overdra� faci l i ty in Austral ia , both faci l i�es  are commiPed for a  12-month period ending August 2023 and O ctober 2023
respec�vely.  At 31 December 2022 £0.1m of the UK  overdra� was drawn. To offset the impact of movements  in foreign
exchange the Group entered into three forward contracts  to hedge the movement between AUD:GBP. These contracts  expired
in the year and generated a net change in fa i r value of £ni l  (2021: £0.2m). The Group wi l l  con�nue to manage foreign
exchange exposure during 2023.
 
I n February 2023, to manage short-term working capital  requirements , Tribal  converted £7m of the £10m uncommiPed
accordion into i ts  existing loan faci l i ty, increas ing the total  faci l i ty to £17m.
 
Shareholders returns and dividends
Tribal  remains  commiPed to a  progress ive dividend pol icy, however based on the performance in the year and having
reviewed the group's  cash flow forecasts , specifical ly with regard to the s ignificant uncertain�es  around the resolu�on of
the NTU contract outl ined above, the Board have concluded that i t would be prudent to reduce the final  dividend by 50%. I t i s
the Board's  intention to return to i ts  former pol icy of dividend progress ion when ci rcumstances  a l low.
 
The Board is  proposing a  final  dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 of 0.65p, pending approval  at the
AGM on 30 May 2023. The an�cipated payment date is  27 July 2023, with an associated record date of 23 June 2023 and ex-
dividend date of 24 June 2023. I n July 2022 Tribal  paid a  final  dividend of 1.3p per share in recogni�on of the year ended 31
December 2021. The Board intends to con�nue a progress ive dividend pol icy, with a  s ingle dividend payment each year
fol lowing annual  results .
 
Going concern
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had cash and cash equivalents  of £2.9m (2021: £5.9m) and borrowings  of £6.3m (2021:
£ni l ).  The Group had a £2m commiPed overdra� faci l i ty in the UK  and a AUD$2m commiPed overdra� faci l i ty in Austral ia ,
both faci l i�es  are commiPed on a 12-month rol l ing period ending August 2023 and O ctober 2023 respec�vely. At the year-
end there was £1.97m avai lable but undrawn in respect of the UK  overdra� faci l i ty (£35,000 had been drawn down) and
$AUD2m avai lable but undrawn in respect of the Austral ian overdraft faci l i ty.

Tribal  Group plc has  undertaken to make adequate financial  resources  avai lable to the Group to meet i ts  current and future
obl iga�ons as  and when they fa l l  due by entering a  £17m loan faci l i ty to cover temporary working capital  requirements  of
the Group and corporate merger and acquis i tion activi ty, i f required, which expires  in December 2024.



the Group and corporate merger and acquis i tion activi ty, i f required, which expires  in December 2024.
 
The Group benefits  from strong annual  recurring revenues and cash genera�on, i t a lso has  a  s ignificant pipel ine of
commiPed income as  i t enters  2023 which provides  a  good level  of protec�on and certainty to the bus iness . W hi le the
Group's  net current l iabi l i ty pos i�on has  increased to £25.0m from £20.9m in 2021, the increase is  driven by the increase in
borrowings  of £6.3m and the recogni�on of an onerous  contract provis ion of £4.5m. The remaining net current l iabi l i�es  is
primari ly made up of net contract l iabi l i�es  of £19.5m (2021: £17.6m) rela�ng to deferred customer revenue recognised in
accordance with IFRS 15.
 
The Group had a pos i�ve end to the year for sales , clos ing several  s ignificant sales  to new and exis�ng customers, and
expanding i ts  global  footprint.  The financial  impact of the pandemic and the changing expecta�ons of students , means that
never has  the need for cloud-based solu�ons for the Educa�on market been more press ing. The investments  the Group
con�nue to make pos i�on Tribal  at the forefront of this  evolu�on in the industry, in addi�on, the Board has  engaged
advisors  and is  cons idering i ts  strategic options  and opportunities  for the Education Services  bus iness .
 
Management have assessed a range of outcomes in rela�on to the NTU contract and i ts  poten�al  impact on the Group's  cash
flows. I f media�on is  not successful , i t may result in l i�ga�on. Should the contract result in l i�ga�on, �mel ines  wi l l  be
uncertain but are cons idered unl ikely to be resolved within the next 12 months. Management is  undertaking a  range of
actions, including assess ing a l l  discretionary spend, in order to improve cash flows as  a  matter of prudence.  
 
I n assess ing the Group's  going concern pos i�on the Directors  have cons idered al l  relevant facts , latest forecasts , an
assessment of the risks  faced by the Group, and cons idered poten�al  changes  in trading performance with par�cular focus
on the chal lenges  faced with the implementa�on of the NTU contact. I n addi�on, management have sufficiently stress  tested
the latest forecasts  to the point where ei ther the Group cannot meet i ts  l iabi l i�es  or i s  in breach of banking covenants  and
have concluded that this  pos i�on is  highly unl ikely, and therefore does  not have a s ignificant impact on the Group's  abi l i ty
to con�nue as  a  going concern.  Accordingly, the Directors  have a reasonable expecta�on that the Group and the Company
has  adequate resources  to con�nue in opera�onal  existence for at least 12 months  from the date of approval  of the
financial  s tatements  and the foreseeable future. Thus, they con�nue to adopt the going concern bas is  in preparing the
financial  s tatements .
 
Taxation
The corpora�on tax on adjusted profit before tax was  £2.9m (2021: £2.2m). The increase was due to the unrecognised
deferred tax in respect of the S ingapore branch losses , on the bas is  we do not an�cipate future profits  to be generated to
uti l i se these losses , and an increase in tax generated in international  jurisdic�ons with a  higher rate of corpora�on tax. I t i s
anticipated that the tax charges  on profi ts  in the near- to medium-term future are l ikely to be higher than the standard rate of
UK corporation tax.
 
Share options and share capital
O n 11 Apri l  2022, 552,941 ni l -cost share op�ons were granted to Mark P ickeP (317,647) and Diane McI ntyre (235,294) as
part of their ongoing remuneration.
 
1,847,373 shares  were issued during the year in order to sa�sfy exercises  of share-based payment schemes. The exercise
costs  of 5p, 58.2p, 71p, 79.6p and 80p per share for the LTIPs  resulted in cash receipts  of £0.6m.
 
Earnings per share (EPS)
Adjusted bas ic earnings  per share from con�nuing opera�ons before other costs  and intangible asset impairment charges
and amor�sa�on, which reflects  the Group's  underlying trading performance, decreased by 89% to 0.6p (2021: 5.6p) due to
the decrease in adjusted profi t before tax and the reduced tax charge in the year.
 
Statutory bas ic earnings  per share decreased by 106% to (0.2)p (2021: 3.3p) as  a  result of the statutory loss  increase in the
year to £(0.5)m (2021: statutory profi t £7.0m).
 
In 2021 1,490,169 vested LTIP and CSOP shares  that had not yet been exercised, were in error only included in the di luted EPS
calcula�on. I n the current year these op�ons have been included in the bas ic calcula�on and the prior year has  been
restated to 3.3p from 3.4p per share.
 
Pension obligations
At 31 December 2022, the Group operated two defined benefit pens ion schemes for the benefit of certain deferred employees
of i ts  subs idiaries  in the UK  which are closed to new members . These schemes are administered by separate funds  that are
legal ly separated from the Parent Company and relate to a  historic contract within Educa�on Services . The trustees  of the
pension funds  are required by law to act in the interest of the funds  and of a l l  relevant stakeholders  in the schemes. The
trustees  of the pens ion funds  are responsible for the investment pol icy with regard to the assets  of the funds.
 
Across  the pens ion schemes, the combined surplus  calculated under I AS 19 at the end of the year was  £0.1m (2021: deficit of
£0.2m), with gross  assets  of £8.1m and gross  l iabi l i ties  of £5.4m (2021: £8.8m and £9.0m respectively). Total  actuaria l  gains
recognised in the consol idated statement of comprehensive income are £0.3m (2021: £0.7m). The Company does  not have an
unqual i fied right to apply any surplus  on one of the schemes and consequently a  surplus  of £2.6m has  not been recognised.
 
Diane McIntyre
Chief Financial Officer

 

 

Consolidated income statement

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Note
Adjusted

£'000

Other
i tems (see

Note 6)
£'000

Year ended
31

December
2022
Total

£'000
Adjusted

£'000

Other
i tems (see

Note 6)
£'000

Year ended
31

December
2021
Total

£'000

Continuing operations

Revenue 2 83,585 - 83,585 81,148 - 81,148



Revenue 2 83,585 - 83,585 81,148 - 81,148

Cost of sales (52,250) - (52,250) (39,335) - (39,335)

Gross profit 31,335 - 31,335 41,813 - 41,813

Total administrative expenses (26,886) (3,670) (30,556) (27,846) (5,079) (32,925)

Operating profit/(loss) 4,449 (3,670) 779 13,967 (5,079) 8,888

Investment income 5 25 - 25 255 - 255

Finance costs 6 (323) (94) (417) (230) (299) (529)

Profit/(loss) before tax 4,151 (3,764) 387 13,992 (5,378) 8,614

Tax (charge)/credit 7 (2,907) 2,010 (897) (2,240) 619 (1,621)

Profit/(loss) attributable to
the owners of the parent

1,244 (1,754) (510) 11,752 (4,759) 6,993

Earnings  per share

Bas ic 9 (0.2)p 3.3p*

Di luted 9 (0.2)p 3.2p*

Al l  activi ties  are from continuing operations.

*Restated see Note 9

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Note

Year ended
31 December

2022
£'000

Year ended
31 December

2021
£'000

(Loss)/profi t for the year (510) 6,993

Other comprehensive income/(expense):

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Remeasurement of defined benefi t pens ion schemes 262 728

Deferred tax on measurement of defined benefi t pens ion schemes (66) (131)

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange di fferences  on trans lation of foreign operations 595 (917)

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year net of tax 791 (320)

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable
to equity holders of the parent

281 6,673

Consolidated balance sheet

As at 31 December 2022

Note 2022
£'000

2021
£'000

Non-current assets

Goodwi l l 10 29,176 28,582

Other intangible assets 11 43,667 35,947

Property, plant and equipment 1,044 962

Right-of-use assets 1,435 2,309

Net investment in lease 70 -

Deferred tax assets 5,064 5,233

Retirement benefi t scheme assets 72 -

Contract assets - 1,610

80,528 74,643

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 12 12,505 10,602

Net investment in lease 47 -

Contract assets 6,676 6,178

Current tax assets 421 -

Cash and cash equivalents 15 2,891 5,924



Cash and cash equivalents 15 2,891 5,924

22,540 22,704

Total assets 103,068 97,347

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 13 (5,788) (6,081)

Accruals (8,622) (9,253)

Contract l iabi l i ties (26,004) (23,571)

Current tax l iabi l i ties (1,145) (2,456)

Lease l iabi l i ties (728) (878)

Borrowings (35) -

Provis ions (5,194) (1,349)

(47,516) (43,588)

Net current liabilities (24,976) (20,884)

Non-current liabilities

Other payables 13 (209) (131)

Deferred tax l iabi l i ties (2,930) (2,953)

Contract l iabi l i ties (141) (1,864)

Retirement benefi t obl igations - (215)

Lease l iabi l i ties (721) (1,449)

Borrowings (6,250) -

Provis ions (483) (807)

(10,734) (7,419)

Total liabilities (58,250) (51,007)

Net assets 44,818 46,340

Equity

Share capital 10,611 10,519

Share premium 83 18,961

Other reserves 28,598 27,978

Accumulated losses 5,526 (11,118)

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  44,818 46,340

Note 2022
£'000

2021
£'000

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Note
Share

capital
£'000

Share
premium

£'000

Other
reserves

£'000

Accumulated
losses
£'000

Total
equity
£'000

Balance as  at 31 December 2020 10,285 15,951 26,926 (15,530) 37,632

Profi t for the year - - - 6,993 6,993

Other comprehensive income for the year - - - (320) (320)

Total  comprehensive income for the year - - - 6,673 6,673

Issue of equity share capital 234 3,010 - - 3,244

Equity dividend paid - - - (2,505) (2,505)

Credit to equity for share-based payments - - 1,078 - 1,078

Foreign exchange di fference on share-based
payments

- - (26) - (26)

Tax credit on credit to equity for share-based
payments

- - - 244 244

Contributions  by and distributions  to owners 234 3,010 1,052 (2,261) 2,035

Balance at 31 December 2021 10,519 18,961 27,978 (11,118) 46,340

Loss  for the year - - - (510) (510)

Other comprehensive expense for the year - - - 791 791

Total  comprehensive income for the year - - - 281 281

Issue of equity share capital 92 481 - - 573

Share premium capital  reduction - (19,359) - 19,359 -



Share premium capital  reduction - (19,359) - 19,359 -

Equity dividend paid - - - (2,736) (2,736)

Credit to equity for share-based payments - - 589 - 589

Foreign exchange di fference on share-based
payments

- - 31 - 31

Tax credit on credit to equity for share-based
payments

- - - (260) (260)

Contributions  by and distributions  to owners 92 (18,878) 620 16,363 (1,803)

At 31 December 2022 10,611 83 28,598 5,526 44,818

Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Note

Year ended
31 December

2022
£'000

Year ended
31 December

2021
£'000

Net cash from operating activities 15 6,106 13,889

Investing activities

Interest received - -

Purchases  of property, plant and equipment (716) (563)

Expenditure on intangible assets (10,369) (10,224)

Payment of deferred cons ideration for acquis i tions (994) (2,180)

Acquis i tion of investments  in subs idiaries  - cash
consideration

- (4,512)

Acquis i tion of investments  in subs idiaries  - cash
acquired

- 317

Proceeds from sub-lease 29 52

Net gain on forward contracts 23 249

Net cash outflow from investing activities (12,027) (16,861)

Financing activities

Interest paid (229) (65)

Loan arrangement fees (9) (45)

Loan drawdown 8,500 15,000

Loan repayment (2,250) (15,000)

Proceeds on issue of shares 573 3,244

Payment of lease l iabi l i ties (943) (1002)

Interest paid on lease l iabi l i ties (60) (85)

Equity dividend paid (2,736) (2,505)

Net cash used in financing activities 2,846 (458)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (3,075) (3,430)

Cash and cash equivalents  at beginning of year 5,924 9,520

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 7 (166)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 2,856 5,924
 

 

Notes to the financial statements

1.   General information
 
The bas is  of preparation of this  prel iminary announcement is  set out below.

The financial  informa�on set out above does  not cons�tute the Company's  statutory accounts  for the years  ended 31
December 2022 or 2021 but is  derived from those accounts . Statutory accounts  for 2021 have been del ivered to the Registrar
of Companies  and those for 2022 wi l l  be del ivered fol lowing the Company's  annual  general  meeting. The auditor BDO LLP has
reported on the statutory financial  s tatements  for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the audit report was  unqual i fied.

W hi lst the financial  informa�on included in this  prel iminary announcement has  been completed in accordance with
I nterna�onal  F inancial  Repor�ng Standards  (I F RSs), this  announcement i tsel f does  not contain sufficient informa�on to
comply with I F RSs. The financial  informa�on has  been prepared on the historical  cost bas is , except for financial
instruments .

Copies  of this  announcement can be obtained from the Company's  registered office at K ing's  O rchard, 1 Q ueen Street, Bristol
BS2 0HQ.



The ful l  financial  s tatements  which comply with I F RSs  wi l l  be communicated to shareholders  via  their selected preference
and are avai lable to members  of the publ ic at the registered office of the Company from that date and are now avai lable on
the Company's  website: www.tribalgroup.com.
 
2. Revenue for contracts with customers

The Group has  spl i t revenue into various  categories  which is  intended to enable users  to understand the rela�onship with
revenue segment informa�on. For 2021 repor�ng Asset Management, So�ware Solu�ons and I nforma�on Managed Services
revenue is  now included in S I S   as  i t more closely a l igns  with the So�ware s ide of the bus iness . This  totals  £2.7m and was
previous ly included within Education Services . 2020 has  been updated for comparison with £2.6m revenue being reass igned.

31 December 2022
UK

 £000
Austral ia

 £000
Other APAC

£000

North
America

and Rest of
the world

£000
Total
£000

Foundation - Support & Maintenance 15,668 7,112 1,617 1,023 25,420

Foundation - Software 6,575 106 515 21 7,217

Cloud Services 6,577 1,351 425 144 8,497

Edge 3,870 400 142 346 4,758

Profess ional  Services 7,618 1,191 2,181 231 11,221

Core SIS 40,308 10,160 4,880 1,765 57,113

Other software & services 3,240 7,808 - - 11,048

Total  SIS 43,548 17,968 4,880 1,765 68,161

Schools  inspections  & other related services  (QAS) 7,176 - - 5,570 12,746

i-graduate survey & data analytics 1,126 126 1,080 346 2,678

Total  ES 8,302 126 1,080 5,916 15,424

Total 51,850 18,094 5,960 7,681 83,585
 

 

 

 

31 December 2021
UK

 £000
Austral ia

 £000
Other APAC

£000

North
America

and Rest of
the world

£000
Total
£000

Foundation - Support & Maintenance 15,945 7,375 1,709 925 25,954

Foundation - Software 4,927 81 324 71 5,403

Cloud Services 5,097 1,326 237 145 6,805

Edge 2,903 363 125 3 3,394

Profess ional  Services 8,004 2,153 2,338 173 12,668

Core SIS 36,876 11,298 4,733 1,317 54,224

Other software & services 4,266 8,816 - - 13,082

Total  SIS 41,142 20,114 4,733 1,317 67,306

Schools  inspections  & other related services  (QAS) 6,888 - - 4,181 11,069

i-graduate survey & data analytics 945 371 1,091 366 2,773

Total  ES 7,833 371 1,091 4,547 13,842

Total 48,975 20,485 5,824 5,864 81,148
 

Net contract liabilities

Contract asset/(l iabi l i ty)
2022
£000

Contract asset/(l iabi l i ty)
2021
£000

Opening contract balance (17,647) (19,435)

Of which released to income statement 17,405 19,128

New bi l l ings  and cash in excess  of revenue recognised (19,227) (17,340)

Clos ing contract balance (19,469) (17,647)

Balances  arise on contract assets  and l iabi l i�es  when cumula�ve payments  received from customers  at the balance sheet
date do not necessari ly equal  the amount of revenue recognised on contracts . Customers  are on standard payment terms,
which may result in settlement of invoices  prior to the recognition of associated revenue.

Contract assets  inherently have some contractual  risks  associated with them related to the specific and ongoing risks  in
each individual  contract with a  customer. The impairment of contract assets/(l iabi l i�es) reflects  provis ions  recognised
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each individual  contract with a  customer. The impairment of contract assets/(l iabi l i�es) reflects  provis ions  recognised
against contract assets  in relation to these risks .

The amount of incremental  costs  to obtain a  contract which extends over a  period of more than 12 months  has  been
recognised as  an asset in prepayments  total l ing £0.5m (2021: £0.5m) and wi l l  be released in l ine with the total  contract
revenue. No amount has  been impaired at 31 December 2022 or 2021.

Remaining performance obligations
The amount of revenue that wi l l  be recognised in future periods  on these contracts  when those remaining performance
obl igations  wi l l  be satis fied is  analysed as  fol lows:

At 31 December 2022
 

2023
£000

2024
£000

2025
£000

Thereafter
£000

Total
£000

Foundation - Support & Maintenance 24,635 24,472 15,783 6,389 71,279

Foundation - Licence 5,876 5,275 3,187 134 14,472

Cloud Services 8,947 8,320 5,618 2,334 25,219

Edge 4,648 4,560 2,996 1,263 13,467

Profess ional  Services 7,093 1,303 74 12 8,482

Core SIS 51,199 43,930 27,658 10,132 132,919

Other software & services 7,577 3,541 1,982 9 13,109

Total  SIS 58,776 47,471 29,640 10,141 146,028

Schools  inspections  & other related services  (QAS) 12,013 8,120 2,101 141 22,375

i-graduate survey & data analytics 2,121 1,033 878 439 4,471

Total  ES 14,134 9,153 2,979 580 26,846

TOTAL 72,910 56,624 32,619 10,721 172,874
 

At 31 December 2021
 

2022
£000

2023
£000

2024
£000

Thereafter
£000

Total
£000

Foundation - Support & Maintenance 24,814 24,063 16,191 12,609 77,677

Foundation - Licence 4,563 3,438 2,764 2,068 12,833

Cloud Services 7,557 6,982 4,816 4,283 23,638

Edge 4,132 4,012 2,890 1,724 12,758

Profess ional  Services 12,694 1,062 107 127 13,990

Core SIS 53,760 39,557 26,768 20,811 140,896

Other software & services 9,873 4,000 2,542 677 17,092

Total  SIS 63,633 43,557 29,310 21,488 157,988

Schools  inspections  & other related services  (QAS) 6,756 2,136 660 - 9,552

i-graduate survey & data analytics 1,501 1,157 978 1,279 4,915

Total  ES 8,257 3,293 1,638 1,279 14,467

TOTAL 71,890 46,850 30,948 22,767 172,455

 

An a na l ys i s  of the  Group's  re ve nue  i s  a s  fol l ows :

2022
£'000

2021
£'000

Continuing operations

Sales  of services 83,585 81,148

Total  revenue 83,585 81,148

 

Further detai ls  of the nature of the services  provided are disclosed in Note 4.Sales  of goods are not materia l  and are
therefore not shown separately. I ncluded in sales  of services  is  £1.7m (2021: £0.8m) related to so�ware l icense revenues
recognised as  a  result of a  periodic review of our l icense en�tlement resul�ng from changes  in our customers ' enrol led
student numbers .

There is  no revenue in respect of discontinued operations.

3. Business segments

I nforma�on reported to the Group's  Chief Execu�ve for the purposes  of resource al loca�on and assessment of segment
performance is  focused on the nature of each type of ac�vity.  The Group's  reportable segments  and principal  ac�vi�es
under IFRS 8 are detai led below:

·   Student I nforma�on Systems (S I S) represents  the del ivery of so�ware and subsequent maintenance and support services



·   Student I nforma�on Systems (S I S) represents  the del ivery of so�ware and subsequent maintenance and support services
and the ac�vi�es  through which we deploy and configure our so�ware for our customers, including so�ware solu�ons,
asset management and information managed services; and

·   Educa�on Services  (ES) represents  inspec�on and review services  which support the assessment of educa�onal  del ivery,
and a portfol io of performance improvement tools  and services , including analytics .

I n accordance with I F RS 8 'O pera�ng Segments ', informa�on on segment assets  i s  not shown, as  this  i s  not provided to the
chief operating decis ion-maker, being the Chief Executive. Inter-segment sales  are charged at prevai l ing market prices .

Revenue Adjusted segment operating profi t

Year ended
31 December 2022

£'000

Year ended
31 December 2021

£'000

Year ended
31 December 2022

£'000

Year ended
31 December 2021

£'000

Student Information Systems 68,161 67,306 11,876 22,404 

Education Services 15,424 13,842 3,719 2,229 

Total 83,585 81,148 15,595 24,633 

Unal located corporate expenses (11,146) (10,666) 

Adjusted operating profit 4,449 13,967 

Amortisation of software and customer
contracts  & relationships  (see Note 6)

(1,098) (947) 

Other i tems (see Note 6) (2,572) (4,132) 

Operating profit 779 8,888 

Investment income 25 255 

Finance costs (417) (529) 

Profit before tax 387 8,614 

Tax charge (897) (1,621) 

(Loss)/Profit after tax (510) 6,993 

Associated deprecia�on and amor�sa�on is  a l located to segment profits  and is  included in adjusted segment opera�ng
profi t as  above. The amount included in SIS i s  £2.6m (2021: £1.1m) and within Education Services  £0.1m (2021: £ni l ).
 
The accoun�ng pol icies  of the reportable segments  are the same as  the Group's  accoun�ng pol icies  described in Note 1.
Segment profit represents  the profit earned by each segment, without a l loca�on of central  administra�on costs , including
Directors ' sa laries , finance costs  and income tax expense. This  i s  the measure reported to the Group's  Chief Execu�ve for the
purpose of resource al location and assessment of segment performance.
 
W ithin Educa�on Services  revenues of approximately 5% (2021: 4%) have arisen from the segment's  largest customer; within
SIS revenues of approximately 4% (2021: 4%) have arisen from the segment's  largest customer.
 
Geographical information
Revenue from external  customers, based on location of the customer, i s  shown below:

2022
£'000

2021
£'000

UK 51,850 48,975

Austral ia 18,094 20,485

Other As ia  Paci fic 5,960 5,824

North America 3,616 3,149

Rest of the world 4,065 2,715

83,585 81,148

Non-current assets  (excluding deferred tax)

2022
£'000

2021
£'000

UK 60,746 54,314

Austral ia 14,350 13,391

Other As ia  Paci fic 305 1,637

North America 52 68

Rest of the world 11 -

75,464 69,410
 
4. Other items

2022
£'000

2021
£'000

Acquis i tion related costs (186) (765)

Employee related share option charges  (including employer related taxes) (450) (1,628)

- Internal  systems transformation programme "VERITAS" (1,321) (1,715)

- Restructuring and associated costs (615) (24)



- Restructuring and associated costs (615) (24)

Amortisation of software and customer contracts  & relationships (1,098) (947)

Total administrative expenses (3,670) (5,079)

Other financing costs (94) (299)

Total other items before tax (3,764) (5,378)

Tax on other i tems 2,010 619

Total other items after tax (1,754) (4,759)

The Group has  adopted a pol icy of disclos ing separately on the face of i ts  Group income statement the effect of any
components  of financial  performance cons idered by the Directors  to be not directly related to the trading bus iness  or
regarded as  excep�onal , or for which separate disclosure would ass ist in a  bePer understanding of the financial
performance achieved. Both materia l i ty and the nature and func�on of the components  of income and expense are
considered in deciding upon such presenta�on. As  such, 'other i tems' are not part of the Group's  underlying trading
activi ties  and include the fol lowing:

Acquis i�on related costs : Amounts  rela�ng to the consultancy and legal  costs  of poten�al  acquis i�ons in the period total
£186,000. I n 2021 the costs  related to the acquis i�on of Semestry Limited, and the acquis i�on of Eveoh BV's  assets  into
Semestry Netherlands  BV (2021: £832,000). Under I F RS 3 these amounts  were expensed as  they are not el igible for
capital isa�on. Also in 2021 accoun�ng for changes  in the fa ir value of the con�ngent deferred cons idera�on were
remeasured as  part of the earn-out agreement with Tribal  Dynamics  Limited, and the corresponding gain was  recognised in
the income statement (2021: £(67,000)). These are a l l  cons idered to be one-off costs  in the year.

Employee related share option charges. The numbers  above include:

·   share-based payments  (see note 22) plus  foreign exchange (2022: £(31,000): 2021: £27,000);

·   the movement in associated employers  taxes  accrual  (2022: £(215,000): 2021: £494,000);

·   the amounts  accrued and paid on dividends on share options  that have met performance conditions  (2022: £(15,000):
2021: £(10,000)). W hen the Company declares  a  cash dividend, some op�on holders  are en�tled to a  'dividend
equivalent'. This  i s  a  payment in cash and/or addi�onal  shares  with a  value determined by reference to the dividends
that would have been paid on the vested shares  in respect of dividend record dates  occurring during the period
between the grant of the Award and the date on which i t becomes exercisable; and

·   a nominal  value paid to employees  as  a  bonus (2022: £91,000: 2021: £65,000). Under Companies  Act 2006 rules  a
nominal  value must be paid to issue new shares , however under the rules  of the LTI P  and Matching Shares  Schemes
the Company wi l l  pay the nominal  value to the participants  as  a  bonus.

Other i tems are detai led below:

·   during 2022 and 2021 the Group has  been running the Veri tas  P rogramme. This  includes  an upgrade to i ts  accoun�ng
system (Microso� Dynamics  D365) and is  part of a  wider implementa�on of a  new target opera�ng model  and
processes  to provide greater opera�ng efficiencies  and repor�ng func�onal i�es. Fol lowing clarified guidance issued
in rela�on to I AS 38, £1,321,000 of costs  have been expensed to the income statement (2021: £1,715,000). The
upgrade is  materia l  and non-recurring in nature. The system went l ive in January 2023 and al l  further costs  wi l l  be
expensed as  part of the Group's  underlying activi ties ;

·   restructuring and associated costs  relate to the restructuring of the Group's  opera�ons (2022: £615,000: 2021:
£24,000).

Amor�sa�on of so�ware and customer contracts  and rela�onships: Amor�sa�on aris ing on the fa ir value of intangible
assets  acquired is  separately disclosed. (2022: £1,098,000: 2021: £947,000).

O ther financing charges: Consistent with the treatment of movements  in deferred cons idera�on, the unwind of the discount
on deferred cons idera�on is  separately presented as  other financing costs  in the income statement (2022: £94,000: 2021:
£299,000).

Taxa�on: The tax credit aris ing on the above i tems is  presented on a cons istent bas is  with the underlying cost or credit to
which i t relates  and therefore is  a lso presented separately on the face of the income statement. The tax credit aris ing on the
above i tems is  presented on a cons istent bas is  with the underlying cost or credit to which i t relates  and therefore is  a lso
presented separately on the face of the income statement. This  includes  a  release of £1.3m tax provis ion previous ly
recognised in relation to the Group rel ief cla im from Care UK for the year ended 31 March 2007.

5. Investment income

2022
 £'000

2021
 £'000

Fair value movement on forward exchange contract 23 249

Interest receivable on leased assets 2 6

Total  investment income 25 255
 

 

6. Finance costs

2022
£'000

2021
£'000

Interest on bank overdrafts  and loans 229 70

Loan arrangement fees 9 45

Net interest payable on reti rement benefi t obl igations 4 14

Interest expense on lease l iabi l i ties 81 101

Adjusted finance costs 323 230



Adjusted finance costs 323 230

Unwinding of discounts 94 299

Other finance costs 94 299

Total  finance costs 417 529
 

7. Tax

2022
 £'000

2021
 £'000

Current tax

UK corporation tax (1,381) (319)

Overseas  tax 1,967 2,017

Adjustments  in respect of prior years 483 (103)

1,069 1,595

Deferred tax

Current year (212) (2)

Adjustments  in respect of prior years 40 28

(172) 26

Tax charge on profi ts 897 1,621

 The continuing tax charge can be reconci led to the profi t from continuing operations  per the income statement as  fol lows:

2022
£'000

2021
£'000

Profi t before tax on continuing operations 387 8,614

Tax charge at standard UK rate of 19% (2020: 19%) 74 1,637

Effects  of:

Overseas  tax rates 619 688

Expenses  not deductible for tax purposes 14 190

Adjustments  in respect of prior years 523 (74)

Additional  deduction for R&D expenditure (23) (13)

Share scheme costs 19 (174)

Fixed assets  inel igible depreciation (14) (47)

Uti l i sation of unrecognised tax losses 989 84

Movement in tax provis ion (1,405) (371)

Effect of changes  in tax rates 101 (299)

Tax expense for the year 897 1,621

I n addi�on to the amount charged to the income statement a  current tax credit of £24,000 (2021: £53,000) and a deferred tax
charge of £284,000 (2021: £395,000)  has  been recognised directly in equity during the year in rela�on to Share Schemes. A
deferred tax charge of £726,000 (2021: £131,000) has  been recognised in the Consol idated Statement of Comprehensive
Income in relation to defined benefi t pens ion schemes.

The Group con�nues to hold an appropriate corpora�on tax provis ion in rela�on to the Group rel ief cla imed from Care UK
for the year ended 31 March 2007, together with other appropriate Group provis ions. There has  been some progress  in the
Care UK  case in the year to 31 December 2022. Under I F R I C  23 management have reviewed this  uncertain tax provis ion and
now consider i t appropriate to make an adjustment due to the progress ion in the year. See note 30.

The income tax expense for the year is  based on the UK  statutory rate of corpora�on tax for the period of 19% (2021: 19%).
Tax for other jurisdictions  is  calculated at the prevai l ing rates  in the respective jurisdictions.

I n the 3 March 2021 Budget, i t was  announced that the UK  tax rate wi l l  increase to 25% from 1 Apri l  2023. As  the rate of 25%
has been substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, the deferred tax balances  have been calculated at 25%.    

8. Dividends

2022
£'000

2021
£'000

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the period:

Final  dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020 of 1.2 pence
(Interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020: 1.1 pence) per share

2,736 2,505

Proposed final  dividend:

Proposed final  dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 of 1.3 pence
(year ended 31 December 2020: 1.2 pence) per share

1,379 2,735

 

The Board regularly reviews the avai lable distributable reserves  of Tribal  Group plc to ensure they are protected for future
dividend payments .

9. Earnings per share



9. Earnings per share
Basic earnings  per share and di luted earnings  per share are calculated by reference to a  weighted average number of
Ordinary Shares  calculated as  fol lows:

 
2022

 thousands

Restated*
2021

 thousands

Weighted average number of shares outstanding:

Basic weighted average number of shares  in issue 211,627 209,073

Weighted average number of employee share options 3,236 5,557

Weighted average number of shares  outstanding for di lution calculations 214,863 214,630

*The 2021 bas ic calculation has  been re-stated to include 1,490,169 LTIP and CSOP shares  that have met the vesting cri teria
but have yet to be exercised. The previous ly reported share numbers  used are as  fol lows: Bas ic weighted average shares
207,986,000; Di lutive weighted average shares  7,047,000; Total  weighted average shares  214,981,000. The previous ly
reported EPS was as  fol lows: Bas ic 3.4p; Adjusted Bas ic 5.7p. The di luted EPS did not change.
 
Di luted earnings  per share reflects  the di lu�ve effect of LTI P  and C S O P  share op�ons for which ves�ng cri teria  have been
met. I n regards  the di luted loss  per share in 2022, a l l  poten�al ly di lu�ve ordinary shares , including op�ons are an�-
di lutive as  they would decrease the loss  per share.
 
The maximum number of poten�al ly di lu�ve shares , based on op�ons that have been granted but have not yet met ves�ng
cri teria, i s  3,328,168 (2021: 7,125,172). This  includes  92,157 options  in the 2019 SAYE Scheme (2021: 876,512).
The adjusted bas ic and di luted earnings  per share figures  shown are included as  the Directors  bel ieve that they provide a
bePer understanding of the underlying trading performance of the Group. A reconci l ia�on of how these figures  are
calculated is  set out below:

 
2022

£'000

Restated*
2021

£'000

Net profi t (510) 6,993

Earnings per share

Basic (0.2)p 3.3p

Di luted (0.2)p 3.2p

Adjusted net profi t 1,244 11,752

Adjusted earnings per share

Basic 0.6p 5.6p

Di luted 0.6p 5.5p

 

Profi t for the year Earnings  per share

 
2022

 £'000

 
2021

 £'000

 
2022

 £'000

Restated *
2021

 £'000

Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders (510) 6,993 (0.2)p 3.3p

Add back:

Amortisation of IFRS intangibles 889 1,083 - -

Share-based payments 324 1,400 - -

Internal  systems transformation programme "VERITAS" 1,139 1,460 - -

Unwinding of discounts 94 299 - -

Movement in deferred cons ideration - (67) - -

Other acquis i tion costs 186 832 - -

Restructuring and associated costs 456 - - -

Reduction of tax provis ion (1,352) - - -

Other i tems (net of tax) 18 (248) - -

Total  adjusting i tems 1,754 4,759 0.8p 2.3p

Adjusted earnings 1,244 11,752 0.6p 5.6p

 
10. Goodwill
 

2022
£'000

2021
£'000

Cost

At beginning of year 109,813 107,892

Additions - 2,543

Exchange di fferences 594 (622)

At end of year 110,407 109,813



Accumulated impairment losses

At beginning of year 81,231 81,231

At end of year 81,231 81,231

Net book value

At end of year 29,176 28,582

At beginning of year 28,582 26,661

 

Goodwi l l  acquired in a  bus iness  is  a l located, at acquis i tion, to the cash-generating units  (CGUs) that are expected to benefi t
from the bus iness  combination. The carrying amount of goodwi l l  has  been al located as  fol lows:

2022
 £'000

2021
 £'000

Student Information Systems (SIS) 25,642 25,048

Education Services  (ES) 3,534 3,534

29,176 28,582

Goodwi l l  i s  reviewed at least annual ly for impairment by comparing the recoverable amount of each cash genera�ng unit
(CGU) with the goodwi l l , intangible assets  and property, plant and equipment a l located to that CGU.
 
The recoverable amount of a  CGU is  determined based on value in use calcula�ons. These calcula�ons use risk adjusted
cash flow projec�ons based on the financial  budget approved by management for the period to 31 December 2023. The
budget was  prepared based on past experience, strategic plans  and management's  expecta�on for the markets  in which they
operate including adjustments  for known contract ends, contract related infla�onary increases  and planned cost savings.
The budget was  extrapolated over a  five-year period in l ine with previous  calcula�ons and to give greater clari ty on future
cash flows. The growth assump�on is  2% per annum for S I S  (2021: 2%) and 2% for ES (2021: 2%). Cash flows beyond the
budget and extrapola�on period were calculated into perpetuity us ing the same growth rates . These growth rates  are in l ine
with the expected average UK economy long-term growth rate.
 
The cash flows projec�ons are discounted at a  pre-tax discount rate of 10.9% (2021: 10.8%). The s ingle discount rate, which
is  cons istently appl ied for both CGUs, i s  determined with reference to internal  measures  and avai lable industry informa�on
and reflects  speci fic risks  relevant to the Group.
 
I mpairment tes�ng inherently involves  a  number of judgemental  areas, including the prepara�on of cash flow forecasts  for
periods  that are beyond the normal  requirements  of management repor�ng; the assessment of the discount rate appropriate
to the Group and the es�ma�on of the future revenue and expenditure of each CGU. Accordingly, management undertook
stress  testing to understand the key sens itivi ties  and concluded as  fol lows:
 
A rise in discount rate to 32% and 210% would trigger an impairment in S I S  and ES respec�vely. A decl ine in growth rate of
EB I TDA (22%) in S I S  and (43.8%) in ES would result in an impairment. Management does  not cons ider these changes  poss ible
but cons iders  a  s l ight increase in discount rate to 12% and zero growth may be poss ible as  a  result of the current economic
environment. As  a  result of the analys is , there is  headroom of £106.3 mi l l ion and £9.7 mi l l ion in SIS and ES respectively.
 
As  a  result, management does  not bel ieve a reasonably poss ible change in the key assumptions  may cause impairment.
 
11. Other intangible assets

 Acquired
Software

£'000

Acquired
Customer

contracts  &
relationships

£'000

Acquired
intel lectual

property
£'000

Development
costs

 £'000

Business
systems

£'000

Software
l icenses

£'000
Total

£'000

Cost

At 1 January 2021 10,293 8,620 1,873 43,619 5,319 1,489 71,213

Acquis i tions 2,305 1,289 - 1,237 - - 4,831

Additions - - - 10,224 - - 10,224

Disposals - - - (905) (4,496) - (5,401)

Exchange di fferences (365) (156) - (162) (5) (1) (689)

At 31 December 2021
and 1 January 2022

12,233 9,753 1,873 54,013 818 1,488 80,178

Adjustments - - - 23 (30) - (7)

Additions - - - 10,294 75 - 10,369

Disposals - - - (9,171) (793) (1,445) (11,409)

Exchange di fferences 349 149 - 155 5 1 659

At 31 December 2022 12,582 9,902 1,873 55,314 75 44 79,790

Amortisation

At 1 January 2021 8,141 6,299 734 25,255 4,920 1,488 46,837

Acquis i tions - - - 366 - - 366

Charge for the year 529 418 75 933 24 1 1,980

Disposals - - - - (4,315) - (4,315)

Exchange di fferences (365) (111) - (155) (5) (1) (637)

At 31 December 2021



At 31 December 2021
and 1 January 2022

8,305 6,606 809 26,399 624 1,488 44,231

Charge for the year 628 470 141 1,160 20 - 2,419

Disposals - - - (9,058) (644) (1,445) (11,147)

Exchange di fferences 350 113 - 156 - 1 620

At 31 December 2022 9,283 7,189 950 18,657 - 44 36,123

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2022 3,299 2,713 923 36,657 75 - 43,667

At 31 December 2021 3,928 3,147 1,064 27,614 194 - 35,947

So�ware, customer contracts  and rela�onships  and intel lectual  property that have arisen from acquis i�ons are amor�sed
over their es�mated useful  l ives , which are 3 to 8 years , 3 to 12 years , and 15 years  respec�vely. The amor�sa�on period for
development costs  incurred on the Group's  product development is  3 to 15 years , based on the expected l i fe cycle of the
product. Amor�sa�on and impairment of development costs , amor�sa�on for so�ware, customer contracts  and
rela�onships , intel lectual  property, bus iness  systems and so�ware l icenses  are a l l  included within administra�ve
expenses.

I ncluded within Bus iness  systems are finance systems with a  carrying value of £0.1m (2021: £0.2m). P hase I  of the D365
implementa�on was ful ly wriPen off in the year. The Veri tas  programme, which is  part of a  wider implementa�on of a  new
target opera�ng model  and processes  to provide greater opera�ng efficiencies  and repor�ng func�onal i�es  across  the
Group, went l ive on 1 January 2023. £75,000 of costs  have been capital ised and in l ine with I AS 38 £1,321,000 of costs  have
been expensed to the income statement (2021: £1,715,000). Bus iness  systems are amortised over 10 years .

I n addi�on, a  review of a l l  bus iness  systems, development cost and so�ware l icences  was  undertaken in the year and
£11.1m of ful ly depreciated assets  have been written off as  no longer in use.

The Group is  required to test annual ly i f there are any indicators  of impairment. The recoverable amount is  determined
based on value in use calcula�ons of iden�fied CGUs. The use of this  method requires  the es�ma�on of future cash flows
and the determination of a  discount rate in order to calculate the present value of the cash flows.
 
A review of the Group's  capital isa�on was undertaken resul�ng in £0.1m of AI  development costs  previous ly capital ised
being written off.
 
The impairment tes�ng al locates  a l l  assets  rela�ng to specific CGUs, including goodwi l l , other intangibles , property, plant
and equipment and net current assets  and l iabi l i ties .
12. Trade and other receivables

2022
£'000

2021
£'000

Amounts  receivable for the sale of services 7,387 5,629

Less: loss  a l lowance (194) (187)

7,193 5,442

Other receivables 828 693

Prepayments 4,484 4,467

12,505 10,602

The Group's  principal  financial  assets  are cash and cash equivalents  and trade and other receivables  which represent the
Group's  maximum exposure to credit risk in rela�on to financial  assets . The Group's  credit risk i s  primari ly related to i ts
trade receivables . The credit risk on l iquid funds  is  l imited because the counterpar�es  are banks  with high credit ra�ngs
ass igned by international  credit rating agencies .

Al l  receivables  are due within one year in both current and prior years .

The Directors  cons ider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables  approximates  to their fa i r value.

13. Trade and other payables

2022
£'000

2021
£'000

Current

Trade payables 1,010 1,712

Other taxation and socia l  securi ty 2,498 2,728

Other payables 2,280 1,641

5,788 6,081

Non-current

Other payables 209 131

209 131

Total 5,997 6,212

The average credit period taken for trade purchases  is  10 days  (2021: 17 days). For most suppl iers , no interest i s  charged on
the trade payables  for the fi rst 30 days  from the date of invoice. Thereafter, in some cases, interest may be charged on the
outstanding balances  due to certain suppl iers  at various  interest rates . The Group has  financial  ri sk management pol icies  in
place to ensure that a l l  payables  are paid within a  reasonable time frame. The Directors  cons ider that the carrying amount
of trade and other payables  approximates  their fa i r value.



of trade and other payables  approximates  their fa i r value.

Other payables  are spl i t as  fol lows:

2022
£'000

2021
£'000

Goods received not invoiced 712 826

Other creditors 1,568 815

2,280 1,641
 

 

14. Borrowings

The Group had a £2m committed overdraft faci l i ty in the UK and a AUD$2m committed overdraft faci l i ty in Austral ia , both
faci l i ties  are committed for a  12-month rol l ing period ending August 2023 and October 2023 respectively. As  at 31 December
2022, the Group had cash and cash equivalents  of £2.9m (2021: £5.9m). At 31 December 2022 £0.1m of the UK overdraft was
drawn. 

At the year-end there was £1.97m avai lable but undrawn in respect of the UK overdraft faci l i ty (£35,000 had been drawn
down) and $AUD2m avai lable but undrawn in respect of the Austral ian overdraft faci l i ty.

On 21 January 2020 the Group entered into a  3 year £10m multicurrency revolving faci l i ty with HSBC with the option to
extend by a  further 2 years , both of which have been exercised with the faci l i ty expiring in December 2024. On 20 February
2023, to manage the short-term working capital  requirements , Tribal  converted £7m of the £10m uncommitted accordion
into i ts  existing loan faci l i ty, increas ing the total  faci l i ty to £17m. The faci l i ty was  put in place to cover general  corporate
and working capital  requirements  of the Group. During the year the ful l  £8.5m was drawn down and £2.25m repaid, so as  at
31 December 2022 £6.25m (2021: £ni l ) of the loan was uti l i sed.

15. Notes to the cash flow statement

2022
£'000

2021
£'000

Operating profi t from continuing operations 779 8,888

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 623 650

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,036 985

Amortisation and impairment of other intangible assets 2,419 1,980

Share-based payments 589 1,078

Movement in contingent deferred cons ideration - (67)

Research and development tax credit (177) (204)

Net pens ion credit (29) (29)

Other non-cash i tems 23 874

Operating cash flows before movements  in working capital 5,263 14,155

Increase in receivables (808) (3,093)

Increase/(decrease) in payables 4,252 4,472

Net cash from operating activities before tax 8,707 15,534

Net tax paid (2,601) (1,645)

Net cash from operating activities 6,106 13,889

 
Net cash from operating activi ties  before tax can be analysed as  fol lows:

2022
£'000

2021
£'000

Continuing operations 8,904 15,534

 
16. Contingent liabilities
The Company and i ts  subs idiaries  have provided performance guarantees  issued by i ts  banks  on i ts  behal f, in the ordinary
course of bus iness , total l ing £0.8m (2021: £1.2m). These are not expected to result in any materia l  financial  loss  and the
l ikel ihood of us ing these guarantees  is  assessed as  remote.
 
As  disclosed in Note 34, Tribal  Holdings  Limited, Tribal  Dynamics  Limited, Tribal  Dynamics  Holdings  Limited, Semestry
Limited and I nterna�onal  Graduate I ns ight Group Limited have taken advantage of the exemp�on avai lable under Sec�on
394A/479A of the Companies  Act 2006 in respect of the requirements  for audit. As  a  condi�on of the exemp�on, the Company
has  guaranteed the year-end l iabi l i ties  of these subs idiaries  unti l  they are settled in ful l . The l iabi l i ties  of the subs idiaries  at
the year-end were £64,309,000 (2021: £60,736,000). These are inclus ive of intercompany l iabi l i�es  of £60,963,120 (2021:
£58,340,634).
 
As  disclosed in note 10, there has  been some progress  in the Group rel ief cla im from Care UK  for the year ended 31 March
2007, which resulted in management reducing the uncertain tax provis ion previous ly recognised by £1.3m. A provis ion of
£0.1m s�l l  remains, this  being calculated as  the maximum adjustment that Tribal  may have to pay. Correspondence to date
from H M RC does  not suggest that there wi l l  be any adjustment to the original  cla im Tribal  submiPed, however un�l  the case
is  closed H M RC's  pos i�on could change. Fol lowing legal  advice, Tribal  s igned a further stands�l l  agreement un�l  31
December 2023 and the case is  yet to be formal ly closed by HMRC.
 
The Group del ivers  complex mul�-year projects  which from �me to �me give rise to s ignificant opera�onal  risks .  Such risks



The Group del ivers  complex mul�-year projects  which from �me to �me give rise to s ignificant opera�onal  risks .  Such risks
may, in certain ci rcumstances, lead to poten�al  nego�a�ons or disputes  with customers  which may give rise to
consequen�al  financial  or commercial  obl iga�ons or l iabi l i�es  aris ing.  The Group has  a  materia l  contract which has  been
terminated with both par�es  reserving rights . The par�es  are required to par�cipate in media�on in an aPempt to achieve a
resolu�on but the �ming and outcome of that process  and any private nego�a�ons to that end is  presently uncertain. I t i s
poss ible that there may be a s ignificant adverse financial  impact on the Group, but as  no financial  demands have yet been
enumerated, currently the Board cannot ful ly assess  such poten�al  impact. The range of any sePlement is  not disclosed as  i t
could be prejudicia l  to the outcome.
 

17. Post balance sheet events
I n February 2023, to manage the short-term working capital  requirements , Tribal  converted £7m of the £10m uncommiPed
accordion into i ts  existing loan faci l i ty, increas ing the total  faci l i ty to £17m.
 
Tribal  received no�fica�on on 17 March 2023 that NTU has  purported to terminate the contract and reserved i ts  rights  to
cla im damages. Tribal  rejects  NTU's  right to terminate and cons iders  i ts  purported termina�on a wrongful  repudia�on of the
contract.  Tribal  has  accepted NTU's  wrongful  repudia�on, elected to treat the contract as  at an end and reserved i ts  rights . 
The contract requires  the parties  to participate in mediation in an attempt to achieve a resolution.
 
Fol lowing the cessa�on of the NTU contract, no adjustment has  been made to the 31 December 2022 financial  s tatements  as
i t i s  a  non-adjusting event after the year end.
 
At 31 December 2022 the balance sheet included contract assets  of £0.8m, refund l iabi l i ty of £0.9m and onerous  contract
provis ion of £4.5m recognised for future losses , represen�ng the unavoidable costs  of mee�ng the obl iga�ons under the
contract in excess  of the expected economic benefits  to be received in rela�on to the NTU contract. The outcome of the
outcome of the mediation process  wi l l  determine the subsequent treatment of the balances  referred to above. 
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